

DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF RESVERATROL DRY EMULSIONS USING QUALITY-BY-DESIGN APPROACH



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for Doctor of Philosophy PHARMACEUTICAL ENGINEERING (INTERNATIONAL PROGRAM) Graduate School, Silpakorn University Academic Year 2018 Copyright of Graduate School, Silpakorn University

การพัฒนาและศึกษาลักษณะอิมัลชันแห้งของเรสเวอราทรอลโดยใช้แนวทางการ ออกแบบคุณภาพ



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปรัชญาจุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาวิศวเภสัชกรรม ปริญญาปรัชญาจุษฎีบัณฑิต แบบ 1.1 (หลักสูตรนานาชาติ) บัณฑิตวิทยาลัย มหาวิทยาลัยศิลปากร ปีการศึกษา 2561 ลิขสิทธิ์ของบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย มหาวิทยาลัยศิลปากร

DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF RESVERATROL DRY EMULSIONS USING QUALITY-BY-DESIGN APPROACH



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for Doctor of Philosophy PHARMACEUTICAL ENGINEERING (INTERNATIONAL PROGRAM) Graduate School, Silpakorn University Academic Year 2018 Copyright of Graduate School, Silpakorn University

Title	Development and characterization of resveratrol dry
	emulsions using Quality-by-Design approach
By	Pontip BENJASIRIMONGKOL
Field of Study	PHARMACEUTICAL ENGINEERING
	(INTERNATIONAL PROGRAM)
Advisor	Pornsak Sriamornsak

Graduate School Silpakorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy

Dean of graduate school (Associate Professor Jurairat Nunthanid, Ph.D.)

Approved by

Chair person (Associate Professor Sontaya Limmatvapirat , Ph.D.) Advisor (Professor Pornsak Sriamornsak , Ph.D.) (Associate Professor Suchada Piriyaprasarth , Ph.D.) Examiner (Associate Professor Thawatchai Phaechamud , Ph.D.) External Examiner (Associate Professor Pienkit Dangprasirt , Ph.D.)

*ระบาริท*ยาลัยศิลปาโร

57365801 : Major PHARMACEUTICAL ENGINEERING (INTERNATIONAL PROGRAM)

Keyword : Qualty-by-Design, Risk assessment, Design of experiment, Dry emulsion, Resveratrol

MISS PONTIP BENJASIRIMONGKOL : DEVELOPMENT AND RESVERATROL DRY CHARACTERIZATION OF **EMULSIONS** USING APPROACH THESIS ADVISOR QUALITY-BY-DESIGN : PROFESSOR PORNSAK SRIAMORNSAK, Ph.D.

Resveratrol (RVT) possesses various potential advantages to human health. However, RVT has some disadvantages i.e. poor water solubility and photosensitivity. The aims of this research were to improve the dissolution property and photostability of RVT. Spray-dried emulsion and emulsion-loaded porous powders were developed to encapsulate RVT. The dissolution and photostability of RVT in the spray-dried emulsion and porous powders were significantly improved, compared to intact RVT. Quality-by-Design (QbD) approach, which emphasizes product and process understanding based on science and risk management, was implemented to provide an extensive understanding of the relationship between product and process factors and responses. In the development of RVT spray-dried emulsion, the possible risks were evaluated in risk assessments, including the Ishikawa diagram and a riskranking system. The critical factors were further revealed in a Plackett-Burman design. After the experiment, the risks were re-evaluated based on new understanding. The low-methoxyl pectin (LMP) amount, caprylic/capric glyceride (CCG) amount, homogenization speed, and pump speed were observed to most critically affect the quality of the product and the spray-drying performance. The spray-dried emulsions and spray-drying process were optimized using Box-Behnken design to produce RVT spray-dried emulsion having small redispersed emulsion size, fast dissolution, good flow property, and desirable spraying efficacy. The experimental results have shown that the size of redispersed emulsion was influenced by LMP and CCG amount. The dissolution rate was influenced by CCG. The angle of repose of RVT spray-dried emulsion was influenced by LMP and CCG amount. The spraying efficiency was enhanced due to an increase in pump speed. The optimized formulation containing 2.75% w/w of LMP and 7% w/w of CCG sprayed with pump speed of 10.1 mL/min prepared within design space met satisfy criteria. In the development of RVT-loaded onto porous calcium silicate (PCS) powders, the effects of LMP, ethyl acetate (EA) and RVT to PCS ratio (RVT:PCS) on drug loading capacity, encapsulation efficiency, and drug dissolution were investigated and optimized using Box-Behnken design. EA amount and RVT:PCS had significant effect on the drug loading capacity. The encapsulation efficiency was significantly influenced by EA amount. The RVT:PCS had a significant effect on drug dissolution. The RVT-PCS powders formulation was optimized for achieving high loading capacity, encapsulation efficiency, and rapid drug dissolution. An optimized RVT/PCS powders containing 2.2% w/w LMP, 14% w/w EA and RVT:PCS at 0.15:1 prepared within the design space satisfied all criteria. The RVT products were successfully developed and optimized by implementing the QbD approach.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Professor Dr. Pornsak Sriamornsak, for his supervision, invaluable advice, and enduring encouragement and support throughout my study. He provided me pleasant opportunities to have research experiences and dedicated his time and valuable discussions to my research. I really appreciate his efforts and I am certainly indebted to him.

I wish to express my sincere appreciation towards my co-advisor, Associate Professor Dr. Suchada Piriyaprasarth, for her worthy guidance, valuable advice, encouragement and support all through my study. She always dedicated her times and interests for discussions and also share great attitude in my research works. I truly appreciate her tremendous efforts and I am much indebted to her.

I wish to express my appreciation to my advisor at Chiba University, Japan, Professor Dr. Kunikazu Moribe, for his encouragement, support, and guidance for the Double Degree Program Scholarship.

I wish to thank Assistant Professor Dr. Supakij Suttiruengwong at Material Science and Engineering Department, Faculty of Engineering and Industrial Technology, Silpakorn University, for his kind support and suggestion of a BET surface area analyzer.

I would like to thank all laboratory members in the Pharmaceutical Biopolymer Group (PBiG), Faculty of Pharmacy, Silpakorn University, for their help and friendships that always encourage me all along my research.

I cannot forget to acknowledge Faculty of Pharmacy, Silpakorn University, for financial support for my research and also provided me with a great opportunity for Double Degree Program study at Chiba University, Japan.

Eventually, I wish to give my special thanks to my parents, family, and friends who always understand and support me no matter when. Without your love and caring, my accomplishment would not have been achieved.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTD
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS E
TABLE OF CONTENTSF
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONN
CHAPTER 1 Introduction1
1.1 Statement and significant of the research problem1
1.2 Objectives
CHAPTER 2 Literature review
2.1 Poorly water-soluble drugs
2.2 Emulsions and dry emulsions (DE)
2.2.1 Emulsions
2.2.2 Dry emulsions
2.2.2.1 Wall materials commonly used for encapsulation10
2.2.2.1.1 Carbohydrates
2.2.2.1.2 Gums
2.2.2.1.3 Proteins
2.2.2.2 Preparation methods for DE
2.2.2.2.1 Spray-drying technique13
2.2.2.2 Adsorption onto porous powders technique
2.3 Resveratrol (RVT)20
2.3.1 Physicochemical and pharmacological properties of RVT20
2.3.2 Techniques for improvement dissolution properties and chemical stability of RVT
2.4 Quality-by-Design (QbD) approach

2.4.1 Risk assessment
2.4.2 Design of experiment (DOE)
CHAPTER 3 Development of RVT spray-dried emulsions
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Materials and methods
3.2.1 Materials
3.2.2 Risk assessment of product factors and process factors of RVT spray- dried emulsions
3.2.3 Identification of the critical factors of RVT spray-dried emulsions using Plackett–Burman design
3.2.4 Optimization of RVT spray-dried emulsions formulation and process using Box-Behnken design
3.2.5 Preparation of RVT spray-dried emulsions
3.2.6 Characterization of RVT spray-dried emulsions
3.2.6.1 Particle morphology and size measurement
3.2.6.2 Loading capacity of RVT spray-dried emulsions
3.2.6.3 Moisture content of RVT spray-dried emulsions determination 40
3.2.6.4 In vitro dissolution study of RVT spray-dried emulsions40
3.2.6.5 Redispersed emulsion size of RVT spray-dried emulsions measurement41
3.2.6.6 Measurement of RVT spray-dried emulsions flowability41
3.2.7 Efficiency of the spray-drying process
3.2.8 Stability studies of RVT in spray-dried emulsions
3.2.8.1 Photostability of RVT in spray-dried emulsions
3.2.8.2 Chemical stability of RVT in spray-dried emulsions on storage 42
3.3 Results and discussion
3.3.1 Risk assessment and screening experiment of RVT spray-dried emulsions
3.3.1.1 Initial risk assessment of product factors and process factors43
3.3.1.2 Identification of the critical factors using Plackett–Burman design

3.3.1.2.1 Particle sizes of RVT spray-dried emulsions	47
3.3.1.2.2 Loading capacity of RVT spray-dried emulsions	50
3.3.1.2.3 Moisture content of RVT spray-dried emulsions	50
3.3.1.2.4 In vitro dissolution study of RVT spray-dried emulsion	ons
	51
3.3.1.2.5 Efficiency of the spray-drying process	53
3.3.1.3 Updated risk assessment of product factors and process factors	53
3.3.2 Optimization of RVT spray-dried emulsions formulation and process .	55
3.3.2.1 Redispersed emulsion size of RVT spray-dried emulsions	56
3.2.2.2 In vitro drug dissolution study of RVT spray-dried emulsions	59
3.3.2.3 Flowability of RVT spray-dried emulsions	61
3.3.2.4 Efficiency of the spray-drying process	64
3.3.2.5 Verification of mathematical model from RVT spray-dried emulsions responses	66
3.3.2.6 Optimization of RVT spray-dried emulsions formulation and process	67
3.3.2.7 Chemical stability of RVT in the optimized RVT spray-dried emulsions	69
3.4 Conclusion	70
CHAPTER 4 Development of RVT-loaded onto porous powders	72
4.1 Introduction	73
4.2 Materials and methods	74
4.2.1 Materials	74
4.2.2 Optimization RVT loaded onto porous calcium silicate (PCS) powders	5
formulation using Box-Behnken design	74
4.2.3 Preparation of RVT/PCS powders	74
4.2.4 Evaluation of drug loading capacity and encapsulation efficiency of RVT/PCS powders	75
4.2.5 Determination of RVT/PCS powders morphology	75
4.2.6 Porosimetry of RVT/PCS powders measurement	75
4.2.7 Viscosity measurement	75

4.2.8 In vitro dissolution study of RVT/PCS powders	76
4.2.9 Bulk density RVT/PCS powders determination	76
4.2.10 Stability studies of RVT/PCS powders	76
4.2.10.1 Photostability of RVT in PCS powders	76
4.2.10.2 Chemical stability of RVT in PCS powders on storage	76
4.3 Results and discussion	77
4.3.1 Drug loading capacity of RVT/PCS powders	77
4.3.2 Encapsulation efficiency of RVT/PCS powders	82
4.3.3 In vitro dissolution study of RVT/PCS powders	83
4.3.4 Optimization of RVT/PCS powders formulation and verification of mathematical model	85
4.3.5 Chemical stability of RVT in the optimized RVT/PCS powders	89
4.4 Conclusion	90
CHAPTER 5	91
5.1 Summary and general conclusion	91
5.2 Future directions of research	93
APPENDIX	94
REFERENCES	96
VITA	.111
้ <i>วิท</i> ยาลัยศิลปาเ	

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 1. Summary of the different drug delivery systems available for resveratrol
(RVT)
Table 2. Examples of common design used for screening experiments. 27
Table 3. Examples of common design used for optimization experiments.
Table 4. Research studies implemented design of experiment (DoE). 29
Table 5. Standard and experimental order sequence in the Plackett–Burman design.37
Table 6. Initial risk assessment for the product and process factors of RVT spray- dried emulsion
Table 7. Factors studied in the Plackett–Burman design and their assigned treatment levels.
Table 8. Summary of responses from the Plackett–Burman design of RVT spray- dried emulsions. 46
Table 9. Updated risk assessment of the product and process factors of RVT spray- dried emulsions. 54
Table 10. Independent factors in Box-Behnken design and responses of RVT spray- dried emulsions. 55
Table 11. Box-Behnken experimental design layout and experimental results of RVT spray-dried emulsions. 56
Table 12. ANOVA results for model to predict redispersed emulsion size (Y_1) , time required for 50% drug dissolution $(T_{50\%}; Y_2)$, angle of repose (Y_3) , and spraying efficiency (Y_4) of RVT spray-dried emulsions
Table 13. Verification experimental results for model obtained from Box-Behnkendesign of RVT spray-dried emulsions.66
Table 14. Experimental results of the optimized RVT spray-dried emulsions
Table 15. Independent factors in Box–Behnken design and responses of RVT-loaded porous calcium silicate (PCS) powders. 74
Table 16. Box–Behnken experimental design layout and response results forRVT/PCS powders

Table 17. ANOVA results for model predicting drug loading capacity (Y ₁),	
encapsulation efficiency (Y_2) and $T_{50\%}(Y_3)$.80
Table 18. Verification experimental results for the model obtained from a Box–	
Behnken design of RVT/PCS powders	.87



LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1. The biopharmaceutical classification system (BCS). Figure was adapted from Figure 1 in reference (25)
Figure 2. Schematic illustration of instability process of emulsion system. Figure was adapted from Figure 1 in reference (36)
Figure 3. Schematic illustration of spray-drying process
Figure 4. Schematic simulation of spray-drying mechanism of a single spray-dried emulsion particle. Figure was adapted from Figure 8 in reference (60)15
Figure 5. Chemical structure of trans-resveratrol
Figure 6. Principle steps of product development using the Quality-by-Design (QbD) approach (17)
Figure 7. Ishikawa diagram of the product and process factors of the resveratrol (RVT) spray-dried emulsions
Figure 8. Pareto charts of the response values of the (a) particle size, (b) drug loading capacity, (c) moisture content, (d) drug dissolution at 5-min intervals, and (e) spraying efficiency
Figure 9. Scanning electron microscope (SEM) images of the RVT spray-dried emulsions containing (a) 2% w/w of low-methoxyl pectin (LMP) and (b) 3% w/w of LMP
Figure 10. Dissolution profiles of RVT spray-dried emulsions standard order (S) 1– 12 and intact
Figure 11. Contour plot showing effect of LMP amount and caprylic/capric glyceride (CCG) amount on the redispersed emulsion size (µm) of RVT spray-dried emulsions.
Figure 12. Contour plot showing effect of LMP amount and CCG amount on the time required for 50% drug dissolution ($T_{50\%}$; min) of RVT spray-dried emulsions60
Figure 13. Contour plot showing effect of (a) LMP amount and pump speed and (b) CCG amount and pump speed on the angle of repose (°) of RVT spray-dried
emuisions

L

Figure 14. SEM images of the RVT spray-dried emulsions comprising LMP amount of (a) 2 % w/w and (b) 3 % w/w with CCG amount of 7.5 % w/w produced at pump speed of 11.6 mL/min
Figure 15. Contour plot showing effect of pump speed and CCG amount on the spraying efficiency (g/min) of RVT spray-dried emulsions
Figure 16. Overall design space for satisfy criteria of all responses of RVT spray- dried emulsions. The design space was represented in the yellow area
Figure 17. Dissolution profiles of optimized RVT spray-dried emulsions and intact.
Figure 18. Remaining trans-RVT after UV exposure of intact and optimized RVT spray-dried emulsions
Figure 19. Contour plot showing effect of porous calcium silicate (PCS) amount and ethyl acetate (EA) amount on drug loading capacity of resveratrol (RVT)/PCS powders
Figure 20. SEM images of intact PCS at magnifications of (a1) 1000× and (a2) 5000× and RVT/PCS powders standard order (S) 10 at magnifications of (b1) 1000× and (b2) 5000×
Figure 21. Contour plot showing the effect of PCS amount and EA amount on encapsulation efficiency of RVT/PCS powders
Figure 22. Contour plot showing the effect of RVT:PCS and LMP amount on T _{50%} in RVT/PCS powders
Figure 23. Overall design space to satisfy the criteria for all responses of the RVT/PCS powders. The design space is represented by the yellow area
Figure 24. (a) Dissolution profile and (b) remaining trans-RVT after UV exposure of intact RVT and optimized RVT/PCS powders

LIST OF ABBREVIATION

QbD	Quality-by-Design
DoE	design of experiment
RA	risk assessment
CQAs	critical quality attributes
RVT	resveratrol
LMP	low-methoxyl pectin
CCG	caprylic/capric glyceride
EA	ethyl acetate
PCS	porous calcium silicate
UV	ultraviolet
BCS	biopharmaceutical classification system
O/W	oil-in-water
W/O	water-in-oil
ІСН	International council for harmonisation of
ale	technical requirements for pharmaceuticals for
	human use
QTTP	quality target product profile
QRM	quality risk management
RSM	response surface methodology
kDa	kilodalton(s)
Q5	drug release at 5-min intervals
T50%	time required for 50% drug dissolution
ANOVA	analysis of variance
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
% w/w	percent weight by weight
v/v	volume by volume
%	percent
mL	milliliter(s)
μm	micrometer(s)
mm	millimeter(s)

nm	nanometer(s)
kV	kilovolt(s)
min	minute(s)
UV-Vis	ultraviolet-visible
°C	degree Celsius
%RH	relative humidity in percent
m/s	meter(s) per second
rpm	round(s) per minute
g	gram(s)
RMSE	root mean square error
Cor Total	corrected total sum of squares
>	more than
<	less than
±	plus-minus
o	degree
r^2	coefficient of determination
<i>p</i> -value	probability value
ov	observed value
PV	predicted value
®	registered trademark
%CV	coefficient of variation in percent
Å	angstrom(s)

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้

ใด้รับทุนอุดหนุนการทำวิทยานิพนธ์บางส่วน จากเงินงบประมาณแผ่นดินหมวดเงินอุดหนุน

ประจำปีงบประมาณ 2561 (ได้รับการจัดสรรผ่านกองกิจการนักศึกษา)



CHAPTER 1 Introduction

1.1 Statement and significant of the research problem

In recent years, an implementation of high throughput screening increases rate of drug discovery. However, the high throughput screening often results in the discovery of new drug candidates with poor water solubility and high lipophilicity (1). Various strategies have been established to improve drug solubility and enhance bioavailability such as nanoparticles (2), self-emulsifying drug delivery system (3), amorphous solid dispersions (4), drug inclusion in complexes including cyclodextrin (5), particle size reduction (6), crystal engineering technique such as co-crystals, salt formation, and crystalline polymorphs (7–9), and dry emulsion system (10).

The emulsion system is one of the useful strategies for drug delivery system. Emulsions could provide drug solubility enhancement and improve bioavailability (11). Various kinds of drugs with different properties can be encapsulated by using emulsion system. A poorly water-soluble drug can be encapsulated in either internal or interface of the emulsion system depending on desired property. However, emulsion stability such as cracking, creaming, or phase separation is considered as critical influences on patients' safety and efficacy (12). Therefore, a dry emulsion is one of the strategies to solve instability of the emulsion system. The concept of dry emulsions focuses on the transformation of liquid emulsions to dried-solid forms. In the viewpoint of manufacturing products, solid particles enable to be directly filled into capsules, sachets or compressed into tablets. Moreover, solid dosage forms are preferred types of drug delivery systems due to their advantages in dosing and handling.

The dry emulsions can be prepared by using techniques such as spray-drying (13), freeze drying (14), and adsorb onto porous powders (15). Spray-drying is one of the most common techniques used in various industries such as pharmaceutical, chemical, cosmetics, and food (16). Spray-drying process is rapid, continuous, scalable and cost-effective. Another interesting technique is adsorption of emulsions onto porous powders. This method can be prepared using a technique as blending emulsions with the porous powders. Application of spray-drying and porous solid

techniques could be useful strategies to develop dry emulsion formulations. However, pharmaceutical product development requires knowledge gained with an application of scientific-based and risk-based approaches providing a comprehensive understanding of pharmaceutical and manufacturing sciences (17).

Quality-by-Design (QbD) approach also referred to as a science- and risk-based approach is a method introducing a systematic evaluation, understanding, and improving the development of product and process. The QbD approach could be implemented by using tools such as risk assessment (RA) and design of experiment (DoE). RA and DoE are useful in pharmaceutical products development because the pharmaceutical products and their manufacturing processes are complex and typically involved with multiple factors (18,19). Previous studies implemented QbD approach in their researches such as powder blends (20), emulsions (21), nanoparticles (22), and spray-dried powders (23) to understand effects on the product quality attributes. However, factors influence both product qualities and process qualities of the DE prepared by spray-drying and also drug-loaded onto porous powders are still unclear.

In this research, we attempted to develop spray-dried emulsions and emulsionadsorbed onto porous powders to enhance the dissolution property of poorly watersoluble drug and also light protection of the photosensitive drug model. Resveratrol (RVT) was used as a drug model. QbD approach was implemented in the development and optimization of formulation and process optimization of RVT spraydried emulsions (Chapter 3) and RVT-loaded onto porous powders (Chapter 4). Influences of formulation and process factors on quality of product and process were discussed based on risk assessment and statistical analysis using DoE. General conclusions of the overall formulation were discussed and some suggestions for the future work were outlined (Chapter 5).

1.2 Objectives

The objectives of this research were:

(1) To develop and characterize RVT spray-dried emulsions and RVT-loaded onto porous powders.

(2) To investigate influences of formulation and process factors on physicochemical characteristics, dissolution properties, process efficiency of RVT products using QbD approach.

(3) To determine the stability of RVT in the spray-dried emulsions and porous powders under ultraviolet (UV) light and on storage.



CHAPTER 2

Literature review

2.1 Poorly water-soluble drugs

2.2 Emulsions and dry emulsions (DE)

2.2.1 Emulsions

2.2.2 Dry emulsions

2.2.2.1 Wall materials commonly used for encapsulation

2.2.2.1.1 Carbohydrates

2.2.2.1.2 Gums

2.2.2.1.3 Proteins

2.2.2.2 Preparation methods for DE

2.2.2.1 Spray-drying technique

2.2.2.2 Adsorption onto porous powders technique

2.3 Resveratrol (RVT)

2.3.1 Physicochemical and pharmacological properties of RVT

2.3.2 Techniques for improvement dissolution properties and chemical stability

of RVT

2.4 Quality-by-Design approach

2.4.1 Risk assessment

____E) ยาลัยศิลปาทร 2.4.2 Design of experiment (DoE)

2.1 Poorly water-soluble drugs

An implementation of a high throughput screening and combinational chemistry in drug discovery introduces new drug candidates with high hydrophobicity and poor water-solubility (1). Poor dissolution property of the drug is a critical aspect and leads to poor bioavailability of the orally administered drug. Orally route administered drug substances have been classified into four classes in the biopharmaceutical classification system (BCS) based on their solubility and permeability by Amidon and co-researchers (24) (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. The biopharmaceutical classification system (BCS). Figure was adapted from Figure 1 in reference (25).

The BCS is a guide for formulators to indicate the complication in the development of drug formulation. In case of BCS class I and III drugs, which drugs possess high water solubility. Formulation strategies apply for the drugs in class I and III could not be complicated. On the contrary, the formulation techniques become more challenge for BCS class II and IV drugs. BCS class II drugs possess poor water solubility but high permeability. An improvement of dissolution properties of the BCS class II drugs is often utilized to enhance their bioavailability. Various type of formulations have been developed in drug research and development for improving the dissolution properties of BCS class II drugs such as crystal modification, particle size reduction, amorphization, cyclodextrin complexation, pH modification, and lipid formulations (26).

One of the strategies for achieving high bioavailability of the poorly watersoluble drugs especially highly lipophilic drug is drug dissolving in liquid vehicle or solvent (27). The encapsulated drug in liquid solution is diluted by the surrounding of endogenous fluid once presented in the gastrointestinal tract leading to an increase in drug absorption and bioavailability.

2.2 Emulsions and dry emulsions (DE)

2.2.1 Emulsions

Lipid-based formulation such as emulsion is widely used in various industries such as pharmaceutical, food, cosmetic, nutraceutical industries. In the pharmaceutical industry, emulsion system is used for the improvement of dissolution properties of poorly water-soluble drugs (28). Emulsion system consists of two immiscible liquids, usually oil or solvent and water. One of the liquid phases disperses as small droplets, micron- to nano- size, in a continuous phase. An oil-inwater (O/W) emulsion is the emulsion system, which oil droplets are dispersed in an aqueous phase, while a system consists of dispersed water droplets in an oil phase is a water-in-oil (W/O) emulsion. A presence of poorly water-soluble drugs could be either in the dispersed phase or interface depending on intended purpose of each formulation. In the case of O/W emulsion, the highly lipophilic drug is dissolved by oil or organic solvent, the solubility of the drug can be improved by the oil or organic solvent used in the emulsions.

Oils such as hydrogenated vegetable oils, partial glycerides, ethoxylated glycerides, and esters of various fatty acid and alcohols are widely used as an lipid carrier in drug delivery system. Organic solvents can also be used for preparing emulsions with consideration of health toxicity. Regarding the International Council for Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (ICH) Q3C (R5) guideline on residual solvents, solvents are classified into 3 classes (29). Class 1 solvents are the solvents which should be avoided due to their risks on human carcinogens properties. Class 2 solvents are limited to be used according to their significant toxicity. Solvents with low toxicity are classified as class 3 solvents. The exposure limit of the class 3 solvents is 50 mg or more per day (29). Therefore,

class 3 solvents, for example ethyl acetate or ethyl ether, are preferred in the pharmaceutical formulation.

Apart from dispersed phase and continuous phase, an emulsifier is the third component required for emulsion system to provide stability of the emulsion. The mechanism on emulsion stabilization depends on types of emulsifier (30). Various kinds of emulsifiers such as polymeric emulsifiers, solid particles, and monomeric surfactants are widely used for emulsion stabilization. In the pharmaceutical industry, polymeric emulsifiers play an important role in the preparation and stabilization of emulsion system. Natural polymers such as proteins, cellulose derivatives, gums, starches, or polysaccharides are commonly used as emulsifiers. Pectin is one of the most useful biopolymers, which possesses emulsifying property (31). Pectin could prevent instability of emulsion by combining steric and electrostatic stabilization mechanism with an increase in the viscosity of continuous phase mechanisms (32). Emulsion stabilization properties of pectin depends on molecular weight, concentration in the formulation, protein content, and acetyl group content (33,34).

Though, emulsion system could increase dissolution properties of poorly watersoluble drugs and protect bioactive compounds. Stability of emulsions is a critical issue to be considered in terms of economic, environmental, and aesthetic factors. Instability of emulsions could occur via one or more several processes such as phase inversion, Ostwald ripening, flocculation, coagulation, creaming, sedimentation, coalescence, and emulsion breakdown (35). Figure 2 illustrates instability processes of emulsion. Emulsion stability could be explained as a thermodynamic basis in Derjaguin, Landau, Verwey, and Overbeek theory (30). Other disadvantages of emulsions are inconveniences in handling and dosing as the same as other liquid formulations. Such instabilities and inconveniences can be solved using an alternative technique that can be referred to as the DE technique.



Figure 2. Schematic illustration of instability process of emulsion system. Figure was adapted from Figure 1 in reference (36).

2.2.2 Dry emulsions

The DE technique is one possible way to overcome such disadvantage of conventional emulsions (37,38). An application of DE could encapsulate drug or bioactive compounds inside and provides a number of advantages for example:

1) Providing suitable dissolution characteristic regarding the intended purpose of formulations.

2) Minimizing physical and chemical reactivity of the encapsulated compounds to environmental exposure i.e. moisture, light, and gas.

3) Promoting easier manufacturing, storing, and handling.

4) Masking the taste of encapsulated substances.

Furthermore, solid dosage forms are preferred types of drug delivery system for manufacturers and patients. From the viewpoint of manufacturing, solid powders can be subsequently filled into capsules, sachets or compressed into tablets. Therefore, dry powders provide more production efficiency than liquid formulations. Various types of wall material or encapsulation matrix such as gum acacia, starch, cellulose derivatives, proteins could be used for encapsulation of food and active ingredients (39). An ideal wall material should have the following characteristics:

1) Suitable rheological characteristics to facilitate the manipulation of encapsulation process.

2) Capability to emulsify or disperse the encapsulated substance and stabilize the emulsion.

3) Chemical nonreactive with encapsulated substance during processing and on storage.

4) Maintaining the encapsulated substance during processing and on storage.

5) Providing suitable dissolution regards to intend dissolution purposes.

6) Potential to protect the active ingredient from an exposure to environment i.e. light, heat, and moisture.

7) Ability to be soluble in acceptable solvents i.e. water, ethanol, etc.

8) Safe and economy substance.

2.2.2.1 Wall materials commonly used for encapsulation

2.2.2.1.1 Carbohydrates

Carbohydrates have been used as wall material of DE to encapsulate active substances. Maltodextrins or starches provide good encapsulation due to their low viscosities at a high solid content. An encapsulation using maltodextrins shows good oxidative stability, however, poor emulsion stability and low oil loading capacity are observed due to their poor emulsifying capability (40). Jang et al. developed a DE system to encapsulate amlodipine dissolved in Labrafil M 1944 CS using dextrin as a wall material (10). The dissolution and bioavailability of amlodipine was significantly improved by the DE systems. Sugars i.e. sucrose, glucose and starches were reported that they might not suitable for encapsulating sumac flavor prepared by spray-drying according to the caramelization properties, then adhered on the spray dryer surface (41). In addition, starch can cause clogging to the spray dryer nozzles because of its heterogeneous form. In the case of trehalose, which is disaccharide, it can minimize the lipid oxidation of encapsulated substance when it is in glassy state. Trehalose is suggested as a suitable wall material for encapsulation purpose. However, recrystallization of trehalose when stored at high humidity condition could cause rapid oxidation of the encapsulated substance (42). Therefore, the application of trehalose is limited due to its recrystallization properties. In order to modify the kinetics recrystallization of sugars using a combination of other polymers, carbohydrates, and salts may be necessary for improving the stability of encapsulated substances. Carbohydrates with chemical modifications such as modified starches have been used as wall materials. The encapsulation properties of modified starches are more enhanced than that in the common starches according to their improving of surface active properties (43). Pongsamart et al. investigated the ability of modified starch as emulsifier and wall material of DE containing fenofibrate. The amorphous fenofibrate encapsulated in the DE showed dissolution rate improvement, however, this system has a limitation for oil loading capacity due to the stability of emulsion (44). Therefore, the DE using modified starch might be suitable for low dose drugs. Pectin is a biopolymer used widely as an emulsifying agent for emulsions. In previous study encapsulated fish oil in sugar beet pectin was prepared using spray-drying technique (45). Low concentration of pectin i.e. 1-2% is

sufficient to prepare a stable emulsion for spray-drying. The DE using sugar beet pectin showed good microencapsulation efficiency and also provided good oxidative stability of the encapsulated oil. High non-encapsulated oil was observed in the formulation containing high oil content. Oil loading capacity may be a limit of DE formulation using sugar beet pectin. However, it was reported that the functional properties of pectin were not affected by the spray-drying process (46).

2.2.2.1.2 Gums

Gums possess film forming and emulsion stabilization properties, which could be applied to encapsulate active agents. Acacia gum (gum Arabic) is one kind of gum that has been used widely in emulsions due to its excellent emulsification properties. The ability to stabilize emulsions of gum arabic is contributed to molecular mass and protein fraction (47). Arabinogalatan-Protein complex in gum arabic is an amphiphilic protein component interfaces with oil droplets. Meanwhile, the carbohydrate fraction in gum arabic is arranged toward the water phase. The emulsion stabilize mechanism is controlled by steric repulsion (48). Previous study reported that gum arabic provided a better encapsulation of cardamom oleoresin than maltodextrins and modified starch (49). In addition, it was found that the microcapsules using gum arabic showed free flowing characteristic. Recently, Bucurescu et al. prepared spray dried curcumin DE using gum arabic as a wall material (50). The curcumin DE showed spherical shape with rough surface. The high concentration of gum arabic in the DE could slower the dissolution rate of curcumin DE. Gum arabic could produce stable emulsions with various kind of oils and a wide pH range. Brea gum is an alternative gum, which might be used as a wall material apart from gum arabic. Castel et al. investigated the potential of Brea gum to encapsulate corn oil and compared with gum arabic system. The results showed that encapsulation efficiency of DE using Brea gum together with inulin was higher than that used gum arabic as the wall material (51). Another study showed that gum arabic was not efficient to be used as a wall material of monoterpenes i.e. limonene, citral, linalool, β -myrcene, and β -pinene (52). The reduction of monoterpenes in gum arabic was observed under the storage at a controlled temperature. An intrinsic semipermeable property of gum arabic is limited against oxidation. Oxygen can penetrate through gum arabic capsule and oxidation might occur between oxygen and encapsulated substances. Therefore, a limited in protective capability might be a disadvantage in order to encapsulate drug or bioactive agents. other disadvantages of gum arabic include high cost, limited supply, variations in quality, and impurities have restricted the utilization in pharmaceutical development.

2.2.2.1.3 Proteins

Proteins have various functional properties such as film formation, emulsification, emulsion stabilization, and water solubility. Gelatin is a protein commonly used as a wall material for encapsulation. Shu et al. produced lycopene spray-dried microcapsules using gelatin and sucrose as wall materials (53). The result showed that some isomerization of lycopene was observed, which might cause by heat exposure during spray-drying process. However, the storage stability of lycopene was good in the spray-dried microcapsules. In a comparison with maltodextrin, pullulan, glucose, maltose, and mannitol, gelatin showed effective encapsulation capability due to its high emulsifying and emulsion stabilization properties. In addition, gelatin could form a fine dense network during the drying process. Other proteins i.e. soy proteins, whey protein concentrate, skimmed milk powder, and caseinates have been widely studied for their encapsulation capability. The stabilization mechanism of proteins is the change of their structure via unfolding upon emulsification and oil/water interface adsorption. The protein layer is formed around the droplets and also with repulsive forces, which facilitates emulsion stability. Whey proteins have been successfully encapsulated fish oils using a spray-drying technique (54). The results showed that high oil contents of 33% to 90% on dry weight were encapsulated in whey protein capsules using a spray dryer. However, the particles containing high amount of oil showed some leakage. Vega et al. studied encapsulation property different between sodium caseinate and micellar casein (skim milk) (55). The result showed that sodium caseinate provided better encapsulation than skim milk because of strong amphiphilic characteristics of sodium caseinate allows better distribution around the surface of encapsulated oil. However, a critical disadvantage of proteins is protein denaturation by heat exposure. The heat could induce proteins aggregation results in turbidity, increased viscosity, emulsion breakdown,

precipitation, and gelation (56). Therefore, DE formulation using spray-drying with high temperature might affect functional properties of proteins and might not be suitable.

2.2.2.2 Preparation methods for DE

DE is usually prepared from O/W emulsions containing a soluble solid carrier in the water phase using various techniques such as spray-drying (10), freeze drying (57), or adsorption onto adsorbent porous powders (58). Each processing technique has the advantages and limitations differently. In order to select a suitable technique, factors such as physicochemical properties of drugs and excipients, manufacturing process, facilities, and environment should be considered. Spraydrying and adsorption onto the porous powders are interesting methods for preparing dry emulsions as they can be applied with emulsions containing oils or solvents in the formulations

2.2.2.1 Spray-drying technique

Spray-drying is widely used in pharmaceutical, chemical, cosmetic, and food industries (16). Spray-drying technique is very interesting for both laboratory and industrial scale because it is rapid, continuous, reproducible, and scalable without major modifications. Final drying step is not required as it is single step process. Spray-drying process starts from the transformation of liquid into dry powders by atomization into hot air. The fundamental processing steps of spraydrying include the following (33);

1) Atomization of liquid feed: The liquid feed is pump through an atomizer of a nozzle by a peristaltic pump. The liquid is atomized into small droplets, which usually in micrometer scale.

2) Drying of spray into drying gas: The small droplets are subjected to fast evaporation by the drying gas.

3) Formation of dry particles: Since the evaporation takes place, particles start drying and dried particles can be formed at this stage.

4) Separation and collection of the dry product from the drying gas: The dry particles flow-through pipe by drying gas. Then, they are separated in a

cyclone separator. The spray-dried particles are collected by a collector at the bottom of the cyclone. The drying gas goes out of the cyclone as an exhaust gas. The schematic of spray-drying process is illustrated in Figure 3.

Spray-drying process



Figure 3. Schematic illustration of spray-drying process.

Two main designs for spray dryer are classified regarding the flow patterns of drying gas and product (16). The first model is co-current flow, which the product and air flow pass through the drying chamber in the same direction. The cocurrent flow design is widely used and suitable for heat sensitive product as the final particles contact with the coolest air in the drying chamber. Another model is countercurrent flow, which the product and air enter at the opposite direction. The countercurrent flow model provides effectiveness in drying performance as the final particles are subjected to the hottest air stream. This counter-current flow model is not suitable for heat-sensitive products. The other design is mixed-flow spray dryer, which incorporates both co-current and counter-current design together. Spray-dried particles can be formed via two steps, which happen extremely fast in the drying chamber. The first period is "constant rate period", in which the fluid droplet and moisture can migrate easily from inside of the droplet to its surface. The droplet keeps saturated conditions in constant rate makes liquid droplet shrinks into smaller size as water is evaporated. In this stage, the droplet temperature drops to wet bulb temperature of the drying air. Then, the moisture content of the droplet becomes too low to keep saturation conditions. The droplet surface starts to form skin or thin solid crust. After this point, the particle enters the second period calls "falling rate period". The crust becomes thicker and makes water evaporation decrease and particle temperature increase (59). Figure 4 illustrates schematic simulation of single spray-dried emulsion particle during spray-drying process.



Figure 4. Schematic simulation of spray-drying mechanism of a single spray-dried emulsion particle. Figure was adapted from Figure 8 in reference (60).

The spray-dried emulsions could encapsulate various kind of drugs including bioactive compounds. The encapsulation of lipophilic compounds i.e. fish oil, soya oil applied DE technique has been studied (61,62). Aghbashlo et al. demonstrated that the encapsulation efficiency of spray-dried fish oil depended on type of wall material (61). The quality of fish oil was still remained on storage when encapsulated with milk-originated wall materials. Furthermore, the encapsulation could protect sensitive compounds such as antioxidants form environmental exposure including light, oxygen and moisture (63). Oliveira et al. developed spray-dried pequi oil and investigated on the degradation of its bioactive compounds (64). The results showed that the DE could provide a protection of the antioxidant properties of bioactive substances i.e. β -carotene, δ -carotene, and lycopene. Though the spray-dried emulsions could be applied in various compounds, there are possible factors such as formulation composition, emulsions droplet size, feed viscosity, feed rate, drying temperature, or else influence the quality of the final product. In addition, the physical properties of the spray-dried emulsions may varied depending on formulation compositions and some process factors (65).

Effect of spray-drying conditions on final spray-dried particles have been studied. The most common spray-drying factors i.e. inlet air temperature, drying air flow rate, and feed rate. Inlet temperature represents the temperature of the drying air, which is the temperature of the air at the first contact moment with the liquid feed. Inlet temperature could directly affect the drying rate of spray-dried particles and final water content. The low evaporation rate occurs at low inlet temperature might cause high moisture residue and poor flow properties of spray-dried particles (66,67). Meanwhile, high inlet temperature might cause too high evaporation and results membrane ruptures, which may lead to a loss of encapsulated substances (68). Kim et demonstrated effect of inlet temperature on spray-dried milk powder al. characteristics (59). The results showed that an increase in the inlet temperature could minimize the surface lipid according to the rapid formation of membrane at high drying temperature. At the low inlet temperature, spray-dried particles have shriveled shape because the membrane remains moist and soft, then the hollow particles can deflate when they cool.

Air flow rate is another spray-drying factor that could have influenced on final spray-dried particles' quality. The air flow rate can represent the volume of drying air supplied to the spray dryer per unit time. It also describes the spray-dried particles drying level and separation level in the cyclone separator unit. At low air flow rate, the spray-dried particles move slowly in the spray-drying system results in the longer drying of the particles. However, the particles' separation efficiency and high yield might be achieved at high air flow rate (69). In addition, Wang *et al* found effect of air flow rate on spray-dried soy sauce characteristics such as particle size and powder cohesiveness (70). At high air flow rate, small feed droplets were formed resulted in small size of spray-dried particles produced. The small size of particles also showed high powder cohesiveness, which indicated poor flow properties of the spray-dried particles.

Feed rate also can have an influence on final product quality because it relates to the drying level of the spray-dried particles. Toneli et al. developed a spray-dried inulin and found that a reduction of feed rate and increasing an inlet temperature could increase the mass production rate (71). The increase in feed flow rate can cause the clogging of the feed at atomization nozzle, which resulted in the reduction of product yields. The similar tendency of low yields was also observed in the work of Tonon et al. at higher feed rate (72). At high feed rate, part of the feed was not atomized and drop passed straight to the drying chamber, which caused a lower yield. In addition, the moisture content of spray-dried particles could increase when produced at a high feed rate condition (73). The feed contact time could be reduced when the feed rate is increased, results in less efficiency of heat transfer and low water evaporation. In addition, the greater moisture content in the spray-dried particles can cause stiffness and resulted in a formation of inter-particle bridges led particle collapse. The collapse might cause particle's leakage and leading chemical degradation of the encapsulated substances (74). However, the slower heat transfer at the high feed rate provides lower energy supply to the spray-dried particles resulted in lower degradation of heat sensitive compound such as β -carotene (75).

In order to obtain spray-dried emulsions with desirable characteristics, optimization of formulation and spray-drying process factors is essential. Exploring criticality of spray-dried emulsions formulation and process are important to understand how formulation and process factors affect the product qualities and spray-drying process efficiency.

2.2.2.2 Adsorption onto porous powders technique

An alternative method of producing dry emulsions is an adsorption of emulsions onto an inert adsorbent porous powder. By using this technique, dry emulsions can be prepared by a simple method of blending porous powders into the liquid emulsion. Calcium silicate, magnesium aluminometasilicate, silicon dioxide, hydrophilic silica, and hydrophobic silica are widely used as the adsorbent carrier for loading various drugs (76–78).

Porous powders are classified according to pore diameter into three classes including macroporous (pore diameter > 50 nm), mesoporous (pore diameter 2 - 50 nm), and microporous (pore diameter < 2 nm) (79). Different preparation conditions leading in different pore diameter of porous powders (80,81). Common preparation method of porous powders is the use of templating agents within particles followed by removing of those templates to crate pores of the particles. The templating agents can be volatile agents e.g. hydrogen peroxide (82), ammonium carbonate (83) and sodium bicarbonate (84) or inorganic compounds e.g. sugars (85) and salts (86). Evaporation is a method for removal of volatile templating agents, while washing with solvent is commonly used to remove inorganic templates. Another preparation method is synthesis of the porous powders. This method is mainly used for silicon-based porous powders. The starting agents for preparation of silicon-based porous powders could be an alkyoxysilane or sodium silicate derivatives. The synthesis involves hydrolysis of the starting agent to form silanol groups (Si-OH) followed by alcohol condensation to form a siloxane bridge (Si-O-Si). The formation of siloxane bridge leading the aggregation of the silicon-based porous powders (79).

The porous powders can be applied in drug delivery systems for various purposes including drug dissolution property improvement, designing drug release pattern, floating in the gastrointestinal tract, and protecting the bioactive compound from physical degradation (87). The dissolution improvement mechanism of poorly water-soluble drugs depends on the formulation of adsorbent such as lipid-based formulation or solvent-based formulation as reported in previous studies (3,88,89). The porous powders used in adsorption of spontaneous emulsifying formulation was found to have significant and positive effects in dissolution and oral bioavailability (3). Furthermore, the reduction in crystal size of drug by adsorption onto porous powders allows enhancement of drug solubility (88,89). Apart from those advantages of porous powders, they also provide excellent flow property, which is appropriate for filling directly into capsules or mixed with other excipients for tablet production (3).

Various porous materials, e.g. porous silicon, porous silica and porous calcium silicate (PCS), have been studied as adsorbent carriers for drug delivery systems. These materials can be applied for oral administration because of their biocompatibility, stability, and nontoxicity. They are generally recognized as safe as the food ingredient in accordance with good manufacturing practices under 21 CFR 182.2227 (90). PCS is one option for enabling improvements in the dissolution properties of drugs possessing poor water solubility (91,92). The high number of pores in PCS provides a large surface area and pore volume, leading to a high adsorption capacity. Preparation method of drug-loaded onto porous powders may not complicate. However, some factors such as specific surface area, porous powders size, porosity, emulsion formulation, adsorption techniques may influence on the quality of the final product (15). Therefore, a deeper understanding of how the formulation factors could influence on the product qualities is important for the formulation using porous powders.
2.3 Resveratrol (RVT)

2.3.1 Physicochemical and pharmacological properties of RVT

trans-RVT; *trans*-3,5,4'-trihydroxystilbene, Resveratrol (RVT), is а polyphenolic compound naturally found in grapes, peanuts, and other foods that exhibited applications against multiple disorders, including cancer, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and aging (93). Figure 5 shows chemical structure of RVT. RVT could increase nitric oxide production and reduce rhythm disturbances, cardiac infarction size, lactate dehydrogenase, and creatine kinase level in plasma (94). Cancer prevention property of RVT was reported by Mikula-Pietrasik et al that RVT could inhibit adhesion of all ovarian cancer cell line in their study (95). Antioxidant effect of RVT was studied on the prevention of motor impairment in neuronal injury in rats (96). RVT exists in two isoforms cis- and trans- configurations. The trans-RVT is more biologically active than the cis-isomer. Rius et al reported that trans-RVT could inhibit angiotensin II-induced arteriolar leukocyte adhesion, which causes vascular inflammatory, while cis- isoform could not effectively reduce this effect (97). RVT is a weak acid with three acidic dissociation constants ($pK_{a1,2,3} = 8.8, 9.8$, and 11.4) and a log P of 3.17 (98). RVT has poor water solubility (approximately 23 µg/mL) (99). However, RVT possesses high permeability and it is classified as class-II compound in the BCS (24). An improving the solubility of RVT using a suitable approach was important for developing solid drugs that can be orally administered.



Figure 5. Chemical structure of trans-resveratrol.

2.3.2 Techniques for improvement dissolution properties and chemical stability of RVT

Over a decade, various techniques have been used to overcome the disadvantages of RVT. The main objectives of previous researches were encapsulation of RVT molecules which help improving dissolution, preventing isomerization, and maintaining RVT activities. RVT was encapsulated using various carriers, including cyclodextrin (100), yeast cells (101), and incorporation in nanoparticles (102). These encapsulation techniques could improve the dissolution of RVT without diminishing its activity. However, some limitations such as scale up and reproducibility could be the drawbacks of these techniques in the case of industrial application. The emulsion system is another applicable method to enhance the dissolution properties of encapsulated RVT (99,103). Table 1 summarized reports of different drug delivery systems utilized for RVT.



Encapsulation technology	Encapsulation details	Evaluations on the encapsulated resveratrol	Reference
Emulsion- based	O/W emulsions.	Chemical stability, drug release, and antioxidant activity.	(103)
	Water-in-oil-in-water emulsions	Drug release and encapsulation efficiency.	(104)
	O/W emulsions using solvent evaporation and freeze drying	Drug solubility, encapsulation efficiency, antioxidant and anti- inflammatory activity.	(102)
Inclusion complexes	Inclusion in yeast cells	Chemical stability and drug release	(101)
Biopolymer particles	Cationic chitosan-and anionic alginate–coated poly(d,l-lactide-co- glycolide) nanoparticles	Controlled drug release and light protection	(105)
	Encapsulate by gliadin-zein using liquid antisolvent precipitation	Chemical stability	(106)
Ę	Solid dispersions Anti-solvent solution and spray-drying using pectin cross-linked with zinc	Chemical stability and drug release	(107)
	1วิทยาลัยจิ	121	

Table 1. Summary of the different drug delivery systems available for resveratrol(RVT).

2.4 Quality-by-Design (QbD) approach

European Medicines Agency (EMA) and the United States Food and Drug Administration (USFDA) currently initiate an implementation of science-based and risk-based regulatory processes or QbD approach (108). The ICH describes a QbD approach for developing pharmaceutical products in guideline Q8 (R2). As defined by ICH Q8, "QbD is a systematic approach to development that begins with predefined objectives and emphasizes product and process understanding, based on sound science and quality risk management" (17). The process of the QbD approach for product development is explained in Figure 6.



Figure 6. Principle steps of product development using the Quality-by-Design (QbD) approach (17).

Determining quality target product profile (QTTP) is the first step of the QbD approach. QTTP could summarize the quality characteristics of the developed product. The desired quality usually involved with safety and efficacy of the product. The next step is critical quality attributes (CQAs) identification. CQAs are the property of product characteristics that should be within an appropriate range, limit, or distribution to ensure the desired product quality regarding ICH Q8 (17). Therefore, critical factors affected CQAs should be identified to investigate the greatest influence on CQAs. The influences of critical factors are possibly explained by the fundamental knowledge of pharmaceutical operations or experiments. Typically, fundamental knowledge or first principle models are quite limited for applying in pharmaceutical development due to the variety of formulation and process factors. Tools such as risk assessment or DoE are useful for identifying the critical product or process factors affecting CQAs of the product and understanding relationship of variables to product quality attributes. DoE helps creating design space for product and process operating ranges. The relationship between the independent factors and responses could be described using design space (17). The satisfy quality attributes of the product could be met when producing within the design space region. The design space provides sufficient assurance of product on quality, safety, and efficacy. After design space establishment, the control strategy can be defined based on manufacturing data within the defined design space to ensure that the criteria are always achieved. The control strategy should include controls of material, production process, design space monitoring, and ensuring consistency of final product quality. The last step is a continual improvement, which is a GMP requirement. The continual improvement must be applied to all pharmaceutical products. The continual improvement step is an on-going program to gather and conduct data analysis to observe the process consistency and validity.

2.4.1 Risk assessment

Regarding ICH Q8, quality risk management (QRM) should be implemented in a systematic process to facilitate science-based decision making. Risk assessment is one of the process steps in the QRM. ICH Q9 stated that risk assessment is an identification of hazards including analysis and evaluation of risk to those hazards (109). Basically, three fundamental questions help assessing the risk include;

- 1) What might go wrong?
- 2) What is the probability it will go wrong?
- 3) What are the consequences?

All relevant factors influenced product qualities should be identified before conducting the risk assessment. This step should include literature review, data from preliminary experiments or past experiences (110). Risk assessment was observed to be useful while developing pharmaceutical products because the products and their manufacturing processes were complex and generally involved multiple relevant factors (19). Further, risk identification and evaluation were based on current knowledge related to the formulation and manufacturing processes and were assisted by risk assessment tools such as the Ishikawa diagram and risk-ranking systems. Prior to conducting experimental work, the Ishikawa diagram helped to clarify the overall relevant factors that affected the predetermined quality of the targeted pharmaceutical product (111). Risk assessment methods, such as failure mode and effect analysis and risk-ranking systems, can further prioritize the relevant risks and evaluate their criticality. (112).

2.4.2 Design of experiment (DOE)

Although initial risk assessment identified the relevant factors that affected the product quality, it may not adequately elucidate the influences of these factors on the product quality. A DoE provides a quantitative understanding of the product quality attributes and process performance that typically preceded the extensive experiments (113). DoE is useful as it could be used for various purposes such as screening, developing design space, optimization, and maintain a controlled process or evaluate process capability (114). For product development, two objectives for implementation of DoE are screening and optimization purposes. Screening experiments are used to indicate the most important factors influence on responses. Practically, two-level fractional factorial design or Plackett-Burman design is used in the screening experimental design. The number of runs is relatively small due to the design structure. Examples of screening designs are summarized in Table 2. Another purpose of DoE in the drug development is optimization study. The most critical factors obtained from screening experiment are determined in more detail using response surface methodology (RSM). This design helps quantify the relationships between one or more responses and the input factors by creating a response surface map. The outputs of the optimization study include combination of factors to predict the optimum response, region of possible factor combinations to predict acceptable results, or to predict process performance in the experimental region (114). Several designs often used for RSM study such as central composite, Box-Behnken, 3-level factorial, Doehlert matrix, or D-Optimal design (Table 3). DoE is used in pharmaceutical area researches in order to fulfill principles of QbD approach and comprehensive knowledge. Examples of studies used DoE were shown in Table 4.

DoE*	Levels	Number of experiments	Estimated effects
Two-level full factorial	2 levels for each factor	2 ^{<i>k</i>**}	Main effects, interactions (2-way, 3-way and k factors).
Two-level fractional factorial	2 levels for each factor	2 ^{k-p***}	R****=III (main effects confounded with 2- factors interactions), R=IV (main effects confounded with 3- factors interactions and 2-factors interactions confounded with 2-factors interactions), R=V (main effects confounded with 4- factors interactions and 2-factors interactions confounded with 3-factors interactions).
Plackett-	2 levels for	N (multiple of 4)	Main effects confounded with (fractions) of
Burman Asymmetrical or mixed level factorial	each factor Factors have different numbers of levels	Various number	Main effects and 2-factors interactions.
D-optimum	Factors have different numbers of levels	Any number equal to or greater than the number of independent coefficients in the model	Main effects and all interactions depend on the chosen model.

Table 2. Examples of common design used for screening experiments.

*Design of Experiments; **number of factors; ***number of independent generators;

****resolution.

DoE	Levels	Number of experiments
Central composite	3 or 5	$2^{k}+2k+Cp*$
Box-Behnken	3	2k(k-1)+Cp
Full factorial design at 3	3	3^k
levels		
Doehlert Matrix	Difference for	k^2+k+Cp
	each factor	
D-Optimum	Difference for	Selected subset of all
	each model,	possible combinations
	Irregular	
	experimental	A
()	domains	
*number of center points.		
	31632528	DIEL
	37-46	
P	S YEAR	
Y.	The LEV	
	S RUH	
- Fruit	NOF 1	TEN
5		
(d)		
	SIMPLY	
	AN MC	
		975)
10		
~/3	7	220/
	<u>"ยาสย</u>	510

Table 3. Examples of common design used for optimization experiments.

Purpose	DoE	Unit operation	Studied factors	Results	Reference
Screening	Plackett-	Roller-	Disintegrant level,	Main factors:	(115)
main	Burman	compaction	tablet	-Roll pressure and	
factors	design	_	compression	lubricant source	
	-		force, speed of	(granule particle size)	
			granulator, roll	-Gliadant addition	
			pressure, active	(Carr's index)	
			pharmaceutical	-Compression force	
			ingredient,	and roll pressure	
			particle size,	(tablet breaking force)	
			source of	-Binder grade	
		\wedge	lubricant, binder	(disintegration time	
			grade, ratio of roll	and dissolution)	
			speed to feed		
			screw speed,		
		18 160	blending time,		
			and glidant level		
Screening	Fractional	nanosuspension	Drug content,	All factors except drug	(116)
main	factorial		stabilizer type,	content were critical	
factors	design		stabilizer	factors to nanoparticle	
		y Jun 19	concentration,	formation and	
			processing	stability. Interaction	
	Ł		temperature,	between	
	5		milling time, and	homogenization	
	al		homogenization	pressure, temperature,	
	۵. (((م		pressure	and milling time	
	P			affected particle size	
Optimiza-	Cubic	Spray-drying	Inlet temperature,	Higher yields were	(117)
tion	central		aspiration, and	obtained at higher	
	design	、ていて	flow rate	aspiration and lower	
	10			flow rates. High Inlet	
		73.		temperature caused	
		、クロッゴ	000	aggregation and	
		- U I d	011	increased particle size.	
Optimiza-	Central	Spray-drying	Inlet temperature,	Higher yields were	(118)
tion	composite		air flow rate,	obtained from higher	
	design		polymer	polymer concentration	
			concentration	and inlet temperature.	
				Higher polymer	
				concentration	
				decreased spray rate	
				and drying efficiency	

Table 4. Research studies implemented design of experiment (DoE).

CHAPTER 3

Development of RVT spray-dried emulsions

3.1 Introduction

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Materials

3.2.2 Risk assessment of product factors and process factors of RVT spray-dried emulsions

3.2.3 Identification of the critical factors of RVT spray-dried emulsions using

Plackett-Burman design

3.2.4 Optimization of RVT spray-dried emulsions formulation and process using Box-Behnken design

3.2.5 Preparation of RVT spray-dried emulsions

- 3.2.6 Characterization of RVT spray-dried emulsions
 - 3.2.6.1 Particle morphology and size measurement
 - 3.2.6.2 Loading capacity of RVT spray-dried emulsions

3.2.6.3 Moisture content of RVT spray-dried emulsions determination

- 3.2.6.4 In vitro dissolution study of RVT spray-dried emulsions
- 3.2.6.5 Redispersed emulsion size of RVT spray-dried emulsions

measurement

3.2.6.6 Measurement of RVT spray-dried emulsions flowability

3.2.7 Efficiency of the spray-drying process

3.2.8 Stability studies of RVT in spray-dried emulsions

3.2.8.1 Photostability of RVT in spray-dried emulsions

3.2.8.2 Chemical stability of RVT in spray-dried emulsions on storage

3.3 Results and discussion

3.3.1 Risk assessment and screening experiment of RVT spray-dried emulsions

- 3.3.1.1 Initial risk assessment of product factors and process factors
- 3.3.1.2 Identification of the critical factors using Plackett–Burman design

3.3.1.2.1 Particle sizes of RVT spray-dried emulsions

3.3.1.2.2 Loading capacity of RVT spray-dried emulsions

3.3.1.2.3 Moisture content of RVT spray-dried emulsions

3.3.1.2.4 In vitro dissolution study of RVT spray-dried emulsions

3.3.1.2.5 Efficiency of the spray-drying process

3.3.1.3 Updated risk assessment of product factors and process factors

3.3.2 Optimization of RVT spray-dried emulsions formulation and process

3.3.2.1 Redispersed emulsion size of RVT spray-dried emulsions

3.3.2.2 In vitro dissolution study of RVT spray-dried emulsions

3.3.2.3 Flowability of RVT spray-dried emulsions

3.3.2.4 Efficiency of the spray-drying process

3.3.2.5 Verification of mathematical model from RVT spray-dried

emulsions responses

3.3.2.6 Optimization of RVT spray-dried emulsions formulation and

process

3.3.2.7 Chemical stability of RVT in the optimized RVT spray-dried

emulsions

3.4 Conclusion

3.1 Introduction

RVT exhibited various therapeutic applications, however, the bioavailability of RVT may be limited because of its poor water solubility. Therefore, improving the solubility of RVT using a suitable approach was important for developing solid drugs that can be orally administered. Previous studies implemented various methods in order to improve the solubility of RVT by encapsulation techniques such as solutions, emulsions, liposomes, inclusion into cyclodextrin, and biopolymer-particles (119). Another disadvantage of RVT was chemical degradation; for instance, RVT was isomerized by exposure to ultraviolet light and a pH of greater than 8 (120). Previous studies have shown that RVT encapsulated in nanoemulsions could improve photostability of RVT (103,121).

Encapsulation increased the solubility of RVT and protected it along the gastrointestinal tract. Among the aforementioned encapsulation techniques, the emulsion system was observed to be popular because it efficiently encapsulated and maintained the chemical stability of RVT (122). However, the quality of the encapsulated substances was easily degraded by the instabilities that were associated with the emulsion such as cracking, creaming, or phase separation (35). Such instabilities can be prevented using an alternative technique that can be referred to as the spray-dried emulsion technique.

Although spray-drying improved the manipulability and scalability of industrial processing, multiple factors that were associated with the development of the RVT spray-dried emulsions were observed to affect the quality attributes of the product. Identifying the product and process factors that considerably influenced the product quality, such as the process efficiency, drug dissolution, and drug loading, was considered to be essential. Guideline Q8 (R2) of the ICH described a QbD approach for developing pharmaceutical products. Risk assessment was observed to be useful while developing pharmaceutical products because the products and their manufacturing processes were complex and generally involved multiple relevant factors (19). Further, risk identification and evaluation were based on current knowledge related to the formulation and manufacturing processes and were assisted by risk assessment tools such as the Ishikawa diagram and risk-ranking systems.

Although initial risk assessment identified the relevant factors that affected the quality of a product, it may not adequately elucidate the influences of these factors on the product quality. A DoE provided a quantitative understanding of the product quality attributes and process performance that typically preceded the extensive experiments (113). A common screening DoE was the Plackett–Burman design, which screened multiple factors using a small number of trials (123). A Plackett–Burman design of the spray-dried particles identified the polymer concentration and the spray-drying process as critical factors (124,125). However, it was unclear whether these factors critically affected the final product quality and the spray-drying efficiency of the spray-dried emulsions. Further, the homogenization process factors should be considered in the screening DoE to determine the effect on the quality of the spray-dried emulsions before optimization study.

Furthermore, the physical properties of a spray-dried emulsion may vary depending on the formulation composition and some process factors (65). Redispersibility is one of the most critical properties of the spray-dried emulsions with regard to emulsion size following reconstitution. Small-sized emulsion droplets can enhance intestinal adsorption due to the large interfacial surface area (126). In addition, the dissolution rate of a drug encapsulated in spray-dried emulsions can depend on the emulsion droplet size (127). The ready release of emulsion droplets at appropriate and rapid rates following reconstitution may guarantee bioavailability. A previous study reported that the droplet size of a redispersible spray-dried emulsion was influenced by formulation composition and homogenizing conditions (128). Another key attribute of a spray-dried emulsion is flowability, which is critical with regard to the ease of handling, processing, and final application. The flowability of a spray-dried emulsion could be influenced by particle size and shape, surface composition, and moisture content, as previously reported (129,130). Preparing a redispersible spray-dried emulsion with an optimum formulation and spray-drying conditions could result in particles with small redispersed emulsion sizes, fast and suitable flow properties. However, predetermined particle dissolve, characteristics, i.e., redispersed emulsion sizes, dissolution, and flow properties, are not the only concerning issues in manufacturing. The performance of the spray-drying process is a factor that should be optimized to ensure cost-effectiveness of the process. From an industrial perspective, optimization considering both product and process characteristics could be efficient, ensuring quality in the entire process.

In this study, the screening DoE investigated the effects of the RVT spray-dried emulsion formulation, homogenization process, and spray-drying process on the quality of the RVT spray-dried emulsion. The factors that were evaluated included the particle size, drug loading capacity, moisture content, drug dissolution, and spraying efficiency of the spray dryer. Further, a RVT spray-dried emulsion was developed using the QbD approach. The most critical factors that affected the quality of the RVT spray-dried emulsion and the spray-drying process were identified using riskassessment tools (such as the Ishikawa diagram and the relative risk-ranking system). Plackett–Burman design were applied for identifying the most critical factors affecting the quality of the RVT spray-dried emulsions and spray-drying process.

Box-Behnken design was used to optimize and investigate effect of critical factors obtained from the screening DoE study on the quality of the RVT spray-dried emulsions i.e. the redispersibility and flowability of RVT spray-dried emulsions and spray-drying efficiency. RVT spray-dried emulsions and the spray-drying process were optimized to produce a spray-dried emulsion with high quality and spraying efficiency. A design space was developed based on small redispersed emulsion sizes, fast dissolve, and suitable flowability achieved using high a spraying efficiency. The optimized formulation was characterized with high redispersibility, drug dissolution, flowability, and chemical stability.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Materials

RVT was purchased from Sami Lab Ltd. (Tumkur, India). Low-methoxyl pectin (LMP; molecular weight = 70 kDa, degree of esterification = 38%) was obtained from Herbstreith & Fox Corporate Group (Neuenbürg, Germany). Caprylic/capric glyceride (CCG; Imwitor[®] 742) was purchased from Sasol Germany GmbH (Hamburg, Germany). Distilled water was the aqueous phase that was used in all the preparations. All the other chemicals were of pharmaceutical grade and were used as received without performing any further purification.

3.2.2 Risk assessment of product factors and process factors of RVT spray-dried emulsions

The initial risk assessment was conducted using an Ishikawa diagram and a relative risk-ranking system. The Ishikawa diagram contained the factors that affected the quality of the RVT spray-dried emulsions and the spray-drying process. The candidate factors were further determined using a relative risk-ranking system, which assessed the quality attribute of each product to be high, medium, or low risk. The risk levels were assessed by the effect of the risky factor on the CQAs of the RVT spray-dried emulsions. The high-risk factors potentially exhibited extreme consequences, and their background knowledge was considered to range from weak to moderate. The medium-risk factors potentially exerted moderate effects, and their background knowledge was observed to be weak. However, the low-risk factors were unlikely to result in a serious outcome (131). Prior to reassessing using the same risk-ranking system, the criticality of each high-risk factor was determined in a Plackett–Burman design.

3.2.3 Identification of the critical factors of RVT spray-dried emulsions using Plackett–Burman design

Data collection

The high-risk factors that were obtained during the initial risk assessment were assigned as independent factors in the Plackett–Burman design. This design was used to perform k = N - 1 analyses, where k denoted the number of factors and N denoted the number of experimental runs. N was a multiple of 4 (e.g., 12, 20, 24). When k < 11, the statistical procedures required dummy factors that were not assigned any values (123). The factors were assigned as standard orders (S) according to the Plackett–Burman design pattern (Table 5) and were further randomly arranged as experimental orders by Design-Experts[®] version 8.0.7.1 software (Stat-Ease Inc., Minneapolis, USA). The CQAs of the RVT spray-dried emulsion product and process were determined as responses (namely, the particle size, drug loading capacity, moisture content, drug dissolution at 5-min intervals (Q₅), process yield, and spraying efficiency).

Data analysis

JU.

The relations between independent factors and responses were analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA). The results were considered to be significant at the p < 0.05 level. The effect of each factor on the responses was computed as a *t*-value and was ranked using a Pareto chart. When the factor effect exceeded the standard *t*-limit in the Pareto chart, the factor exerted a significant effect on the response. Further, factors with effects of lower than the standard *t*-limit were not observed to significantly influence the response. Additionally, the significances of the factors were determined by the Bonferroni limit in the Pareto chart (132). The standard *t*-limit and Bonferroni limit were depicted as a black line and a red line in the Pareto chart, respectively. The positive and negative effects of each factor on each response were depicted using the yellow and blue bars in the Pareto chart, respectively.

Standard	Experimental	А	В	С	D	E	F	G	Η	Ι	J	Κ
order (S)	order											
1	5	1	1	-1	1	1	1	-1	-1	-1	1	-1
2	1	-1	1	1	-1	1	1	1	-1	-1	-1	1
3	12	1	-1	1	1	-1	1	1	1	-1	-1	-1
4	8	-1	1	-1	1	1	-1	1	1	1	-1	-1
5	11	-1	-1	1	-1	1	1	-1	1	1	1	-1
6	4	-1	-1	-1	1	-1	1	1	-1	1	1	1
7	9	1	-1	-1	-1	1	-1	1	1	-1	1	1
8	2	1	1	-1	-1	-1	1	-1	1	1	-1	1
9	6	1	1	1	-1	-1	-1	1	-1	1	1	-1
10	3	/	1	1	1	5-1	-1	-1	1	-1	1	1
11	7	51	-1	1	1	1	-1	-1	-1	1	-1	1
12	10	9-1-	₩ 1:	=-1	1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1
		214	1.1	K F	PIN	9	170					

Table 5. Standard and experimental order sequence in the Plackett–Burman design.

3.2.4 Optimization of RVT spray-dried emulsions formulation and process using Box-Behnken design

In the optimization study, a Box–Behnken design was used to optimize RVT spray-dried emulsions formulation and process and investigate the effect of selected independent factors on the responses. The levels of each independent factor were selected based on results obtained from the screening experiment. Design-Experts[®] version 8.0.7.1 (Stat-Ease Inc., Minneapolis, USA) was utilized to design the experiments, which created 15 experiments and two center points. All the experiments from standard order (S1–17) were randomized and performed as per the run order to avoid any bias. Partial model sum of squares and lack-of-fit tests were performed for linear, two-factor interaction and quadratic models for each response. A significant *p*-value from the partial model sum of squares analysis and a non-significant lack-of-fit *p*-value were used as criteria to select the model. The obtained model was simplified using backward elimination to remove unimportant predictors in the equation and improve model adequacy. The model of each response was verified from the results of additional experiments and the deviation from the predicted value was determined based on the root mean square error (RMSE) as follows:

RMSE =
$$\sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\hat{y}_i - y_i)^2}{n}}$$
 (1)

where, $(\hat{y}_i - y_i)$ is the residual or difference between the predicted value (\hat{y}_i) and observed value (y_i) for i = 1 to n, where n is number of the experiment (133).

The design space was developed according to the criteria of each response and the desirability function. An optimized batch was produced from the optimal value within the obtained design space. The residual and percent error of results obtained from the optimized and predicted values were calculated as follows:



3.2.5 Preparation of RVT spray-dried emulsions

In the screening study, The RVT O/W emulsions were prepared using a homogenization process with varying LMP amounts (2-3% w/w), CCG amounts (5-10% w/w), homogenization time (5-10 min), and homogenization speed (12,000-18,000 rpm). The oil phase containing RVT (9.5 mg/mL) was CCG. The aqueous phase was prepared by dissolving LMP in distilled water. Both the phases were homogenized in a homogenizer (Polytron, PT 10-35 GT, Kinematica AG, Luzern, Switzerland) immersed in an ice bath to avoid overheating. The RVT emulsions were further spray-dried using a laboratory co-current flow spray dryer (SD-06 model, Labplant UK Ltd., North Yorkshire, UK). The prepared emulsions were pumped into the drying chamber through a peristaltic pump with a 0.5-mm spray nozzle. The emulsions were spray-dried at different inlet temperatures (120–200°C), pump speeds (4.7–15 mL/min), drying airspeeds (2.7–4.3 m/s), and de-blocking speeds (slow-fast). The range of formulation concentrations and process ranges were obtained from preliminary experiments by considering emulsion stability and viscosity, droplet size, and spray-dried emulsions' physical characteristics, including minimum and maximum operating value of spray dryer factors. The RVT spray-dried emulsions samples were eliminated from the cyclone-separating chamber using a stainless-steel laboratory spoon. To calculate the spraying efficiency and yield, the emulsion and spray-dried emulsions were weighed before and after spray-drying, respectively, and the time that was spent in the spray-drying process was also recorded.

RVT spray-dried emulsions in the optimization experiments were prepared using the same method as the screening study. The homogenization speed and time were 18,000 rpm and 10 min, respectively. The emulsion was sprayed at an inlet temperature of 160°C, drying air speed of 4.3 m/s and medium speed of de-blocking with varying a pump speed (4.7 - 11.6 mL/min).

3.2.6 Characterization of RVT spray-dried emulsions

3.2.6.1 Particle morphology and size measurement

The morphologies of the RVT spray-dried emulsions were investigated using a scanning electron microscope (SEM; model LEO 1450 VP model, LEO Electron Microscopy Ltd., Cambridge, UK). The samples were fixed on the SEM stub and coated with gold before conducting the investigation. Images were obtained at an accelerating voltage of 10.0 kV and at a working distance of 11 mm. The SEM images were analyzed using JMicro Vision software (version 1.2.7). The average size of the spray-dried emulsions particles was considered to be Martin's diameter and was presented as mean \pm standard deviation (n = 100).

3.2.6.2 Loading capacity of RVT spray-dried emulsions

The RVT content was determined using a high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC; model Jasco PU-2089 plus a quaternary gradient inert pump, and a Jasco UV-2070 plus multi wavelength UV-vis detector, Jasco, Tokyo, Japan) system. First, the RVT spray-dried emulsions was dissolved in a mixed mobile phase of water, methanol, and glacial acetic acid (440:550:10 v/v/v). The sample solutions were filtered through a 0.45- μ m nylon syringe filter and were further applied to a reversed-phase C18 column (Phenomenex; 250 × 4.60 mm; particle size = 5 μ m; Phenomenex Inc., California, USA). The injection volume and flow rate were 20 μ L and 1 mL/min, respectively. The RVT concentration was determined from the UV absorption that was measured at 306 nm. Further, the RVT retention time was approximately 5 min. Linear calibration curve was performed with RVT standard at known concentrations (0.01–50 μ g/mL). Further, the drug loading capacity in the RVT spray-dried emulsions was calculated as follows:

Drug loading capacity (%) =
$$\frac{\text{Total amount of RVT (mg)} \times 100}{\text{Amount of RVT spray-dried emulsions (mg)}}$$
 (4)

3.2.6.3 Moisture content of RVT spray-dried emulsions determination

The moisture content of the RVT spray-dried emulsions was determined by weighing the sample before and after drying in a thermo-controlled infrared dryer (model YTC01L, Sartorius AG, Göttingen, Germany). Therefore, the sample was spread on an aluminum weighing dish that was placed on the balance. The sample was heated and dried until a constant weight was reached. The moisture loss was recorded as a percentage value, and the results were reported as the means of triplicate analyses.

3.2.6.4 In vitro dissolution study of RVT spray-dried emulsions

In the screening study, the drug dissolution from the RVT spray-dried emulsions was measured *in vitro* using a flow-through cell apparatus (USP apparatus 4; Sotax CE7 smart with a CY 7 piston pump, Sotax AG, Aesch, Switzerland). Further, the flow-through cells (diameter = 12 mm) were prepared by placing a 5-mm-diameter ruby bead in a cone and by packing the cone with 1-mm-diameter glass beads. The operation was performed in a closed temperature-controlled ($37^{\circ}C \pm 0.1^{\circ}C$) system. In each experiment, two glass microfiber filters with different diameters (2.7 and 0.7 µm) were placed in the cell before the filter head. The sink condition in the dissolution medium was provided by the RVT spray-dried emulsions (equivalent to 0.2 mg of RVT) placed in the flow-through cell. A 100-mL volume of acetate buffer (pH 4.5) was circulated at a flow rate of 8 mL/min. At 5, 10, 15, 30, 60, 90, and 120 min, 3 mL of the samples were replaced with a fresh medium. After filtering, the sample was analyzed using HPLC. The drug dissolutions were reported as the means of triplicate analyses.

In the optimization study, *in vitro* drug dissolution was carried out similarly to the screening study. The sample cell was fitted without the glass microfilters. The dissolution medium was pH 4.5 acetate buffer with 0.05% of tween 80. Samples of 4

mL were withdrawn at 5, 10, 15, 30, and 60 min intervals and were replaced with equivalent fresh media. These samples were filtered using a 0.45- μ m nylon filter before analyzing using a T60 UV-Visible spectrophotometer (PG instrument Ltd., Leicestershire, UK) at 307 nm. The time required for 50% drug dissolution (T_{50%}) was determined. RVT concertation in each batch of RVT spray-dried emulsion was assessed using UV spectrophotometry prior to dissolution testing, which was performed in triplicates.

3.2.6.5 Redispersed emulsion size of RVT spray-dried emulsions

measurement

RVT spray-dried emulsion was dispersed in acetate buffer pH 4.5 using the same volume of distilled water used in the emulsion before spray-drying. The sample was stirred using an environmental shaker (Model ES-20, Biosan, Riga, Latvia) at 100 rpm at 25° C \pm 5°C. After 10 min, a sample was withdrawn for droplet size measurements using static light scattering. These samples were diluted in deionized water with gentle stirring. Mean particle size was measured using a laserscattering particle size distribution analyzer (Partica LA-950, Horiba Instruments Inc., California, USA) under continuous stirring. Measurements were performed in triplicate, and mean diameters of emulsion droplets were reported.

3.2.6.6 Measurement of RVT spray-dried emulsions flowability

Flowability of RVT spray-dried emulsion was determined by measuring the angle of repose using a hollow cylinder of 50-mm diameter and 100-mm height. The cylinder with RVT spray-dried emulsion was placed on a laboratory table and was gradually raised until RVT spray-dried emulsion formed a symmetric conical shape on the table. The angle of repose was calculated as follows:

$$\tan \alpha = \frac{\text{height (cm)}}{0.5 \text{ base (cm)}}$$
(5)

3.2.7 Efficiency of the spray-drying process

The efficiency of the spray-drying process was determined from the spraying efficiency and yield, which were calculated as follows:

Spraying efficiency
$$(g/\min) = \frac{\text{Total amount of emulsions sprayed }(g)}{\text{Spray-drying time }(\min)}$$
, (6)

Yield (%) =
$$\frac{\text{Total amount of collected RVTspray-dried emulsions (g)}}{\text{Total amount of sprayed solid (g)}} \times 100$$
 (7)

3.2.8 Stability studies of RVT in spray-dried emulsions

3.2.8.1 Photostability of RVT in spray-dried emulsions

RVT spray-dried emulsions sample was spread onto an area of 20 cm² of glass plates (approximately 20 mg/cm²) before exposure to UVA (365 nm) emitted by Spectroline UV lamp model ENF-260/FE (Spectronics Corporation, New York, USA). After irradiated for 30 min and 60 min intervals, samples were withdrawn for RVT content analysis using HPLC as described in section 3.2.6.2. Enhancement of RVT photostability was verified by comparing the percentage of remained *trans*-RVT in RVT spray-dried emulsions with that of intact RVT in CCG.

3.2.8.2 Chemical stability of RVT in spray-dried emulsions on storage

RVT spray-dried emulsions sample was stored in an open vial protected from light at 25°C and 40°C/75% relative humidity (RH). RVT concentrations were evaluated by HPLC after 3 months of storage.



3.3 Results and discussion

3.3.1 Risk assessment and screening experiment of RVT spray-dried emulsions 3.3.1.1 Initial risk assessment of product factors and process factors

Risk assessment is the initial step of the product development process. The factors that affect the quality of the RVT spray-dried emulsions, including the raw materials, manufacturing environment, and manufacturing process, were obtained from literature reviews (35,119) and preliminary experiments (data not shown). The raw materials, manufacturing environment, homogenization, and spray-drying process factors were related to the quality of the RVT spray-dried emulsions that were observed in an Ishikawa (fishbone) diagram (Figure 7). These factors were assessed for their criticality with respect to the quality of the RVT spray-dried emulsions and the spray-drying process. In this experiment, the factors (type of raw materials, type of equipment, and production scale) were fixed, and the manufacturing environment was controlled. Therefore, these factors were omitted from further risk assessment. Further, the risk effects were evaluated and prioritized by a risk-ranking system.

Table 6 classifies the initial risks as production and processing factors that influence the RVT spray-dried emulsions, which comprise LMP and CCG. The main manufacturing steps of the emulsions were considered to be homogenization and the spray-drying process. The risk level of each factor was qualitatively evaluated by the potential effect on the CQAs (product and process qualities) of the RVT spray-dried emulsions. The CQAs of the spray-dried powder, such as the particle size, drug loading capacity, moisture content, and drug dissolution, can significantly affect the quality and efficacy of the final spray-dried powder (134). In the preliminary experiments, the physical properties of the spray-dried powder and the spray-drying performance were observed to be influenced by the LMP and CCG amounts, the time and speed of homogenization, the inlet temperature, pump speed, drying air speed, and de-blocking speed (data not shown). The effect of each factor was observed to be dependent on its CQA. For performing risk evaluation, the results of the preliminary experiments were combined with those of the previous studies. The formulation composition affected the oil encapsulation and spraying efficiency (51,75,118). A high solid content enhanced the oil encapsulation and reduced the moisture content of the spray-dried particles (51,75); however, the increased feed viscosity can reduce the spraying efficiency (118). Further, the homogenization time and speed were observed to affect the emulsion characteristics. In our preliminary experiments, increasing the time and speed of the homogenization reduced the droplet size (data not shown). The effects of the emulsion characteristics (such as droplet size) on the quality of the spray-dried particles, especially on the drug loading efficacy, were reported in previous study (135). In emulsions containing small droplets, the unencapsulated oil on the spray-dried particle surface was observed to be relatively low (135). The spraydrying factors (inlet temperature, pump speed, and drying airspeed) significantly influenced the spray-dried particle characteristics and the spray-drying performance (72,118). The characteristics of the spray-dried emulsions were also indirectly affected by the speed of the elimination of blockage from the nozzle (the de-blocking speed). In particular, blocking the spray dryer nozzle could considerably affect the yield and spraying efficiency. According to the initial risk evaluation, all the eight factors exhibited a high-risk level because of their effects on the quality of the RVT spray-dried emulsions and the spray-drying performance. However, the criticality of the high-risk factors cannot be determined by a qualitative risk assessment and required a quantitative analysis based on the Plackett-Burman design.



Figure 7. Ishikawa diagram of the product and process factors of the resveratrol (RVT) spray-dried emulsions.

Unit operation	Factors	Critical quality attributes					
		Particle size	Drug loading capacity	Moisture content	Drug dissolution	Yield	Spraying efficiency
Formulation compositions	Level of raw materials	High	High	High	High	High	High
Homogenization	Homogenization time	High	High	Low	Medium	Low	Low
	Homogenization speed	High	High	Low	Medium	Low	Low
Spray-drying	Inlet temperature	High	High	High	High	High	High
	Pump speed	High	High	High	High	High	High
	Drying airspeed	High	High	High	High	High	High
	De-blocking speed	Medium	Medium	Medium	Medium	High	High

Table 6. Initial risk assessment for the product and process factors of RVT spray-dried emulsion.

3.3.1.2 Identification of the critical factors using Plackett–Burman design

The risk-ranking results identified the eight high-risk factors that were to be investigated. The independent factors (A-H) were assigned to two treatment levels, as summarized in Table 7. Three dummy factors (J-L) were not assigned any values. The factor levels were determined in preliminary studies that specified the formulation and process-operating ranges. Further, 12 design experiments are summarized in Table 5, whereas the responses are summarized in Table 8. The *p*values of the response models were shown in Table A1 (Appendix).

Table 7. Factors studied in the Plackett–Burman design and their assigned treatment levels.

Unit operation	Code	Independent factors	Leve	el
			Low (-1)	High $(+1)$
Formulation	А	LMP amount (% w/w)	2	3
compositions	В	CCG amount (% w/w)	5	10
Homogenization	С	Homogenization time (min)	5	10
	D	Homogenization speed (rpm)	12,000	18,000
Spray-drying	E	Inlet temperature (°C)	120	200
	F	Pump speed (ml/min)	4.7	15
	G	Drying airspeed (m/s)	2.7	4.3
	Н	De-blocking speed	Slow	Fast
Dummy factors	JAN	Dummy	(-1)	(+1)
	K	Dummy	(-1)	(+1)
	LA	Dummy	(-1)	(+1)
		HAREF BOR		

Table 8. Summary of responses from the Plackett–Burman design of RVT spray-driedemulsions.

Standard	Critical qualit	y attributes				
order (S)	Particle size	Drug loading	Moisture	*Q5	Yield	Spraying
	762	capacity	content	<i></i>		efficiency
	(µm)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(g/min)
1	$\frac{3}{830 \pm 0.76}$	0.69 ± 0.06	9.85 ± 1.07	6717 + 640	30.29	14 32
2	6.90 ± 0.10	0.09 ± 0.00	10.87 ± 1.07	52.00 ± 3.40	34.51	16.04
2	0.00 ± 0.44	0.73 ± 0.01	10.07 ± 1.30	51.05 ± 4.25	20.29	14.50
3	0.07 ± 0.51	0.33 ± 0.03	11.07 ± 1.71	51.03 ± 4.23	30.28	14.39
4	6.37 ± 0.44	1.11 ± 0.01	10.25 ± 2.61	55.03 ± 3.33	26.29	5.10
5	6.32 ± 0.32	0.61 ± 0.01	9.53 ± 1.15	48.87 ± 4.69	36.16	15.52
6	6.42 ± 0.30	0.61 ± 0.01	9.33 ± 0.80	51.58 ± 6.69	37.56	14.90
7	8.44 ± 0.41	0.72 ± 0.01	10.72 ± 2.29	36.75 ± 2.01	28.38	5.22
8	8.64 ± 0.74	0.67 ± 0.01	9.39 ± 1.17	47.36 ± 11.40	23.24	13.83
9	7.17 ± 0.46	0.68 ± 0.01	7.96 ± 2.17	41.07 ± 2.60	42.56	3.96
10	6.24 ± 0.36	0.73 ± 0.01	9.14 ± 1.25	57.35 ± 5.17	27.78	5.05
11	7.91 ± 0.62	0.63 ± 0.03	12.77 ± 1.24	36.77 ± 0.89	27.45	3.93
12	6.22 ± 0.34	0.63 ± 0.01	11.08 ± 2.52	43.31 ± 9.23	36.54	5.23

*drug dissolution at 5-min intervals.

3.3.1.2.1 Particle sizes of RVT spray-dried emulsions

The mean diameter of the RVT spray-dried emulsions ranged from 6.22 to 8.64 µm (Table 8). In the Pareto chart (Figure 8a), the *t*-value of the LMP amount exceeded the standard *t*-limit for a particle size, indicating that the size of the RVT spray-dried emulsions most critically responded to the LMP amount. Furthermore, the Pareto bar was yellow, indicating that the LMP amount positively influenced the particle size. Panels (a) and (b) of Figure 9 denote the SEM images of the RVT spray-dried emulsions containing 2% w/w and 3% w/w LMP, respectively. Thus, the particles are smaller in the former as compared to that in the latter formulation. The increased particle size at a high LMP concentration may be explained by the high amount of solid content, which increased the viscosity of the emulsions. As depicted in Figure A1 (Appendix), the RVT spray-dried emulsions containing 3% w/w LMP were significantly more viscous as compared to those containing 2% w/w LMP. In a previous study, a high emulsion viscosity resulted in large-sized droplets in the spraying steps of the spray-drying process (16). Further, the size of the spray-dried particles reportedly depended on the concentration of the solid content in the liquid feed (72,136).





Figure 8. Pareto charts of the response values of the (a) particle size, (b) drug loading capacity, (c) moisture content, (d) drug dissolution at 5-min intervals, and (e) spraying efficiency.



Figure 9. Scanning electron microscope (SEM) images of the RVT spray-dried emulsions containing (a) 2% w/w of low-methoxyl pectin (LMP) and (b) 3% w/w of LMP.

3.3.1.2.2 Loading capacity of RVT spray-dried emulsions

The drug loading capacity of the RVT spray-dried emulsions varied from 0.53% to 1.1% (see Table 8). In the Pareto chart (Figure 8b), the *t*-value of the CCG amount exceeded the standard *t*-limit for the drug loading capacity, indicating that the CCG amount most critically affected the drug loading capacity of the RVTspray-dried emulsions. The positive association between the CCG amount and the drug loading capacity was observed to be statistically significant. Because RVT was dissolved in CCG (the oil phase of the emulsions), its content depended on the amount of CCG in the formulation. Increasing the CCG amount in the initial emulsion increased the amount of RVT-containing oil in the spray-dried emulsions. Previous studies reported similar tendencies (137,138), with a positive association between the amount of oil in the spray-dried particles and the amount of oil in the emulsion before spray-drying (137).

3.3.1.2.3 Moisture content of RVT spray-dried emulsions

The moisture content of the spray-dried emulsions ranged from 7.96% to 12.77% (Table 8). In the Pareto chart, the CCG amount was more than the standard *t*-limit for moisture content (Figure 8c), indicating that this factor significantly affected the residual moisture in the product. Furthermore, the Pareto line was blue, indicating a negative association between the CCG amount and moisture content of the spray-dried emulsions. The emulsion formulation with a high amount of CCG contained a low amount of water (aqueous phase) in the formulation, which was more effectively evaporated as compared to the large aqueous phase. Therefore, the oil concentration can affect the moisture content of the spray-dried powders (139,140). In the present study, the moisture content was also significantly influenced by the dummy factor, possibly via a two-factor interaction that occurred among the considered factors. Further, the two-factor interactions were confounded with the main factor in the Plackett–Burman design structure (141). Therefore, the significant factors that influenced the moisture content required further investigation.

3.3.1.2.4 In vitro dissolution study of RVT spray-dried emulsions

Figure 10 depicts the dissolution profiles of the RVT spray-dried emulsions S1-S12 relative to intact RVT. The dissolution of intact RVT was ~20% after 120 min, indicating the intrinsically poor solubility of RVT in water. The drug dissolutions of all the RVT spray-dried emulsions were higher than that of intact RVT, suggesting that the spray-dried emulsions significantly improved the dissolution property of RVT. The Q₅ values of the 12 experimental samples ranged from 36.75% to 62.17% (Table 8), and the drug dissolution of each sample remained steady between 30 and 120 min. At 30 min, the average drug dissolution was $68\% \pm 2.55\%$. The spray-dried emulsions showed rapid dissolve, therefore an information of in the initial stage of dissolution might be necessary (142). Subsequently, the factors affecting Q₅ were statistically determined in the Pareto chart of Figure 8d. The tvalues of the CCG amount, homogenization speed, pump speed, and LMP amount were more than the standard t-limit, confirming their significant influences on Q_5 . Further, Q₅ was enhanced by increasing the CCG amount, homogenization speed, and pump speed; however, Q₅ was retarded by increasing the LMP amount. The drug dissolution of dried emulsions was already known to depend on the particle characteristics (2,143). For instance, the drug dissolution was increased by increasing the amount of encapsulated drug in the spray-dried emulsions (143); however, the drug dissolution was retarded by increasing the amount of pectin (an obstructive polymer) (2). The homogenization speed directly impacted the emulsion characteristics even though high-speed homogenization (18,000 rpm) achieved unimodal dispersion and small-sized emulsion droplets (data not shown). Therefore, the homogenization speed directly impacted the emulsion characteristics. Further, the drug dissolution from a dry emulsion was more rapid in emulsions having a small droplet size as compared to that in emulsions with larger droplets (127). Increasing the pump speed can reduce the contact time between the emulsions and the drying air, leading to incomplete drying of the particles (144). Therefore, increasing the pump speed accelerates the drug dissolution. According to a previous study, increasing the pump speed enhances the dissolution by reducing the wettability time of the spraydried particles (145).



3.3.1.2.5 Efficiency of the spray-drying process

The performance of the spray-drying process was evaluated in terms of the spraying efficiency and yield. As summarized in Table 8, the spraying efficiency varied from 3.93 to 16.04 g/min. In the Pareto chart (Figure 8e), the *t*-values of the pump speed and LMP amount exceeded the standard *t*-limit for spraying efficiency, indicating that both the factors significantly affected this response variable. Increasing the pump speed also increased the spraying efficiency in the conventional spray-drying process and efficiently reduced the spray-drying process time (118,144). However, increasing the LMP amount reduced the spraying efficiency. This effect may be caused because of the increased polymer amount, which increased the feed viscosity and the time that was required for the spray-drying process (118). The emulsions containing 3% w/w LMP were more viscous as compared to those containing 2% w/w LMP (Figure A1 in Appendix).

The yields of the spray-drying process ranged from 23.24% to 42.56% (average \pm standard deviation = 31.75% \pm 5.66%; see Table 8). These low yields could be attributed to the small batch size produced by the laboratory spray dryer. Typically, low yields were caused by the adherence of the spray-dried particles to the drying chamber walls, amount of loss being relatively constant (33). Laboratory spray dryers were renowned to produce low yields, especially when the sample volume was small (118,134).

3.3.1.3 Updated risk assessment of product factors and process factors

Based on the experimental results using the Plackett–Burman design, the critical factors influencing each response were identified. The criticalities of the product and process factors were further re-evaluated using the same risk-ranking tool. The updated risks of all the factors are summarized in Table 9. This step refined the risk level based on the product improvement and enhanced understanding of the process. After risk refinement, the highest risk factors were identified as the LMP and CCG amounts. These risk factors affected most of the product-quality factors such as the particle size, drug loading capacity, moisture content, and Q₅. The composition of the spray-dried formulation considerably influenced the final product quality (23). The homogenization speed was a high-risk factor for Q₅. Further, the pump speed

posed the highest risk to Q_5 and the spraying efficiency. Controlling these high-risk factors would improve the robustness of the product and the fabrication process (109).

Table 9. Updated risk assessment of the product and process factors of RVT spraydried emulsions.

Unit operation	Factors	Critical quality attributes					
		Particle	Drug	Moisture	Drug	Yield	Spraying
		size	loading capacity	content	dissolution		efficiency
Formulation compositions	Level of raw materials	High	High	High	High	Low	High
Homogenization	Homogenization time	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
	Homogenization speed	Low	Low	Low	High	Low	Low
Spray-drying	Inlet temperature	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
	Pump speed	Low	Low	Low	High	Low	High
	Drying airspeed	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
F	De-blocking speed	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
	175			117			
	118	าลัย	ลล				

3.3.2 Optimization of RVT spray-dried emulsions formulation and process

According to our screening study, four independent factors including LMP concentration, CCG concentration, homogenization speed, and pump speed showed significant influences on RVT spray-dried emulsions characteristics and spray-drying process (146). However, a monodispersed pattern emulsion droplet size distribution was obtained when using homogenization speed of 18,000 rpm. Therefore, this factor was set as constant in this optimization experiment. The LMP concentration, CCG concentration, and pump speed were selected in this study. The independent factors with the design levels and responses are shown in Table 10.

Seventeen formulations of RVT spray-dried emulsions were prepared using the Box–Behnken design with the following formulation factors: LMP concentration (X_1) , CCG concentration (X_2) , and pump speed (X_3) . The responses of RVT spraydried emulsions that were analyzed were redispersed emulsion size (Y_1) , time required for 50% drug dissolution $(T_{50\%}; Y_2)$, angle of repose (Y_3) , and spraying efficiency (Y_4) . The results of the RVT spray-dried emulsion formulations and responses are shown in Table 11.

 Table 10. Independent factors in Box-Behnken design and responses of RVT spraydried emulsions.

Independent factors	5/5	Level	
9,3	Low (-1)	Medium (0)	High $(+1)$
<i>X</i> ₁ : Low-methoxyl pectin (LMP) concentration (% w/w)	2	2.5	3
<i>X</i> ₂ : Caprylic/capric glyceride (CCG) concentration (% w/w)	5	7.5	10
X ₃ : Pump speed (mL/min)	4.7	8.15	11.6
Responses			

 Y_1 : Redispersed emulsion size (μ m)

 Y_2 : Time required for 50% drug dissolution (T_{50%}; min)

*Y*₃: Angle of repose (°)

*Y*₄: Spraying efficiency (g/min)
Standard order (S)	Run order	Independent factors		Responses				
		LMP	CCG	Pump	Redispersed	*T50%	Angle of	Spraying
		amount	amount	speed	emulsion	(min)	repose	efficiency
		(% w/w)	(% w/w)	(mL/min)	size		(°)	(g/min)
					(µm)			
1	9	2	5	8.15	5.88 ± 0.40	3.9 ± 0.6	27.4 ± 3.4	8.29
2	6	3	5	8.15	4.51 ± 0.06	6.1 ± 2.3	46.2 ± 4.0	8.40
3	1	2	10	8.15	7.37 ± 0.61	4.6 ± 1.9	19.7 ± 1.8	7.99
4	3	3	10	8.15	6.02 ± 0.56	3.2 ± 0.3	21.1 ± 4.2	8.24
5	15	2	7.5	4.7	6.34 ± 0.26	3.7 ± 0.7	29.6 ± 1.3	3.49
6	10	3	7.5	4.7	5.29 ± 0.35	3.7 ± 0.9	26.3 ± 2.4	4.11
7	8	2	7.5	11.6	6.55 ± 0.16	4.9 ± 1.4	21.6 ± 5.8	12.31
8	11	3	7.5	11.6	5.82 ± 0.03	2.8 ± 0.3	36.9 ± 5.6	12.27
9	5	2.5	5	4.7	4.73 ± 0.52	6.6 ± 2.3	35.8 ± 5.4	4.10
10	2	2.5	10	4.7	5.47 ± 0.44	4.1 ± 0.5	23.6 ± 3.4	3.22
11	7	2.5	5	11.6	5.11 ± 0.19	7.3 ± 3.0	25.0 ± 0.8	12.31
12	14	2.5	10	11.6	6.35 ± 0.23	2.8 ± 0.1	32.4 ± 4.3	12.31
13	16	2.5	7.5	8.15	5.91 ± 0.36	4.1 ± 0.4	32.8 ± 3.7	8.42
14	12	2.5	7.5	8.15	6.42 ± 0.15	3.7 ± 0.8	25.5 ± 2.3	8.42
15	13	2.5	7.5	8.15	5.76 ± 0.07	3.7 ± 0.1	31.0 ± 0.4	8.45
16	17	2.5	7.5	8.15	6.49 ± 0.17	3.6 ± 1.0	30.0 ± 3.9	8.28
17	4	2.5	7.5	8.15	5.72 ± 0.52	3.9 ± 0.3	31.9 ± 4.4	8.46

Table 11. Box-Behnken experimental design layout and experimental results of RVT spray-dried emulsions.

* Time required for 50% drug dissolution

3.3.2.1 Redispersed emulsion size of RVT spray-dried emulsions

Redispersed emulsion size is one of the most critical characteristics of RVT spray-dried emulsions in terms of the effectiveness of the emulsion. Small droplet size provides larger interfacial surface area, which in turn enhances intestinal absorption (126). The droplet sizes of emulsions in this study were determined after the reconstitution of RVT spray-dried emulsions and ranged from 4.51 to 7.37 μ m (Table 11). ANOVA was performed to determine the significance and effect of each independent factor. The mathematical model describing the relationship between factors and redispersed emulsion size of RVT spray-dried emulsions in terms of coded factors is presented below.

Redispersed emulsion size (μ m): $Y_1 = +6.03 - 0.56X_1 + 0.62X_2 + 0.25X_3 - 0.35X_2^2$ (8)

The mathematical model for predicting redispersed emulsion sizes of RVT spraydried emulsions was significant at p = 0.0002, whereas the lack of fit was nonsignificant (Table 12). The model predicting redispersed emulsion size had a high r^2 of 0.8187, representing the reliability of the model. ANOVA results show that the effects of LMP (X_1) and CCG concentrations (X_2) were significant.

Figure 11 illustrates the influence of LMP and CCG concentrations on the redispersed emulsion size. LMP amount negatively influenced the redispersed emulsion size. Conversely, CCG concertation positively influenced the redispersed emulsion size. Emulsion size was influenced by the concentration of each formulation composition as previously reported (147). Pectin (e.g., LMP) is a polymeric surfactant that facilitates emulsion stability by covering the surfaces of oil droplets. Under low LMP concentrations in the redispersed emulsion, LMP concertation was inadequate to stabilize the newly formed droplets from the reconstituted RVT spray-dried emulsions; as a result, coalescing could cause an increase in the redispersed emulsion size. An increase in LMP concentration may stabilize the newly formed droplets from the reconstitution of RVT spray-dried emulsions. Similarly, the effect of CCG concentration on the redispersed emulsion size can be explained by the stability of the reconstituted emulsion. The high amount of oil droplets required adequate emulsifier concentrations to cover the surfaces of the oil droplets to decrease coalescence. Therefore, an increase and decrease in LMP and CCG concentrations, respectively, may result in small redispersed emulsion size. <u>่วยาลัยสิลป</u>

Table 12. ANOVA results for model to predict redispersed emulsion size (Y_1) , time required for 50% drug dissolution $(T_{50\%}; Y_2)$, angle of repose (Y_3) , and spraying efficiency (Y_4) of RVT spray-dried emulsions.

Source	Sum of Squares	Degree of freedom	Mean square	F value	<i>p</i> -value, Prob>F		
For Y_1 (µm)							
Model	6.66	4	1.67	13.55	0.0002		
X_1	2.53	1	2.53	20.59	0.0007		
X_2	3.1	1	3.1	25.22	0.0003		
$\overline{X_3}$	0.5	1	0.5	4.07	0.0666		
X_2^2	0.53	1	0.53	4.3	0.0602		
Residual	1.47	12	0.12				
Lack of Fit	0.93	8	0.12	0.86	0.6054		
Pure Error	0.54	4	0.14	0.00			
*Cor Total	813		0.11				
Other statistic	$r^{2} = 0.8187$ adiu	sted $r^2 = 0.7583$ RMSF	- 0.35				
For Y_2 (min)	-0.0107, adju	31007 = 0.7505, 10151	- 0.55				
Model	17.85		4 46	6.02	0 0099		
Y,	0.21	I ASTERIK	0.21	0.02	0.6051		
X_{I}	10.58	417-16-51	10.58	0.28	0.0031		
Λ_2 V V	10.36		2.24	14.27	0.0030		
$\Lambda_1 \Lambda_2$	3.24 2.91		3.24	4.57	0.0051		
X_2^2	3.81		5.81	5.15	0.0467		
Residual	7.41	10	0.74	14.20	0.0444		
Lack of Fit	7.29	8	0.91	14.38	0.0666		
Pure Error	0.13	2	0.063				
Cor Total	25.26						
Other statistic	es: $r^2 = 0.7065$, adju	sted $r^2 = 0.5891$, RMSE	L = 0.86				
For Y_3 (°)	PIP -						
Model	563.72	6	93.95	6.24	0.0079		
X_1	129.28	A TO AL	129.28	8.59	0.0168		
X_2	177		177	11.75	0.0075		
X_3	0.038		0.038	0.0025	0.9611		
X_1X_2	75.17	1	75.17	4.99	0.0523		
X_1X_3	86.68	1.5.63	86.68	5.76	0.04		
$X_{2}X_{3}$	95.55	PIDDIC	95.55	6.35	0.0328		
Residual	135.53	9	15.06				
Lack of Fit	110.97	6	18.49	2.26	0.2688		
Pure Error	24.56	3	8.19				
Cor Total	699 24	15					
Other statistic	$r^{2} = 0.8062$ adju	sted $r^2 - 0.6770$ RMSF	- 3.88				
For Y_{ℓ} (g/min) — 0.0002, adju	30007 = 0.0770, 100012	- 5.00				
Model	, 147.11	2	73 56	1050 41	< 0.0001		
V.	0.22	1	0.22	2 21	0.0001		
$\mathbf{\Lambda}_2$ \mathbf{V}	146.80	1	146.80	2007.62	0.0980 < 0.0001		
A3 Desidual	140.09	1	140.09	2097.02	< 0.0001		
Kesidual	0.84	12	0.07	0.01	0.116		
Lack of Fit	0.82	10	0.082	8.01	0.116		
Pure Error	0.02	2	0.01				
*Cor Total	147.95	14	0.0.5				
Other statistic	$r^2 = 0.9943$, adju	sted $r^2 = 0.9934$, RMSE	L = 0.26				
Note: $X_1 = LN$	AP amount; $X_2 = CC$	CG amount; X_3 =pump	speed; $p < 0.0$	5 is conside	ered as significant;		
*corrected total sum of square							



Figure 11. Contour plot showing effect of LMP amount and caprylic/capric glyceride (CCG) amount on the redispersed emulsion size (µm) of RVT spray-dried emulsions.

3.2.2.2 In vitro drug dissolution study of RVT spray-dried emulsions

Drug dissolution is a critical step in drug absorption of poorly watersoluble drugs into the medium and is based on the dosage forms. Enhancing dissolution results in better adsorption and higher bioavailability. Spray-dried emulsion is a reliable system for improving drug dissolution an bioavailability (143). From the Plackett-Burman design experiment, the results showed that the solubility of RVT was significantly improved by using spray-dried emulsion. Furthermore, the RVT spray-dried emulsions showed fast dissolve as seen in the Plackett-Burman design result. Therefore, the dissolution rate, especially in the initial stage, of RVT spray-dried emulsion was assessed in this part. The time required for 50% drug dissolution ($T_{50\%}$) was determined to show the dissolution rate of RVT spray-dried emulsions. $T_{50\%}$ of the RVT spray-dried emulsions ranged from 2.8 to 7.3 min (Table 11). The mathematical model describing the relationship between factors and $T_{50\%}$ in terms of coded factors is presented below.

T_{50%} (min):
$$Y_2 = +3.81 - 0.16X_1 - 1.15X_2 - 0.9X_1X_2 + 1.01X_2^2$$
 (9)

The mathematical model for predicting $T_{50\%}$ was significant at p = 0.0099, whereas the lack of fit was non-significant (Table 12). The model predicting $T_{50\%}$ had a high r^2 of 0.7065, representing the reliability of the model. ANOVA results show that the effects of CCG concentrations (X_2) and its quadratic term (X_2^2) were significant.

Figure 12 illustrates the influence of CCG concentrations on the $T_{50\%}$. CCG amount negatively influenced the $T_{50\%}$. At the high CCG concentration, the $T_{50\%}$ of RVT spray-dried emulsions was shorter than that in RVT spray-dried emulsions contained low CCG concentration. The result was in accordance with the Plackett-Burman experiment (section 3.3.1.2.4) that CCG was the most significant factor affected the drug dissolution. An increase in CCG amount resulted in an enhancement of Q_5 of the RVT spray-dried emulsions. Fast drug dissolution of the spray-dried emulsion could be due to the release of oil deposited at the surface of the spray-dried emulsion. A presence of oil at the surface of the spray-dried emulsion was caused by the large size of the initial emulsion droplet in the formulation contained high amount of oil (148). Therefore, an increase CCG concentration may result in faster $T_{50\%}$.



Figure 12. Contour plot showing effect of LMP amount and CCG amount on the time required for 50% drug dissolution ($T_{50\%}$; min) of RVT spray-dried emulsions.

3.3.2.3 Flowability of RVT spray-dried emulsions

The angle of repose was measured to determine flowability of RVT spraydried emulsion. The flowability of powders is one of the critical criteria for manufacturing satisfactory drugs. The angle of repose of the RVT spray-dried emulsion formulations varied from 19.7° to 46.2° as summarized in Table 11. According to the criteria set by the United States Pharmacopeia angles of repose <25°, 25°–35°, 36°–40°, 41°–45°, and 46°–55° represent excellent, good, fair, passable, and poor flow properties, respectively (149). Based on our results, the flow property of RVT spray-dried emulsion formulations varied from excellent to poor based on value of the angle of repose. The mathematical model, in terms of coded factors, describing the relationship between factors and angle of repose of RVT spray-dried emulsion is shown below.

Angle of repose (°): $Y_3 = +28.99 + 4.02X_1 - 4.7X_2 + 0.069X_3 - 4.34X_1X_2 + 4.65X_1X_3 + 4.86X_2X_3$ (10)

The mathematical model for predicting the angle of repose in RVT spray-dried emulsion formulations was significant with a p value of 0.0079, whereas the lack of fit was non-significant (Table 12). The mathematical model predicting the angle of repose showed a high r^2 of 0.8062, representing the reliability of the model. ANOVA analysis results showed that the effects of LMP concentration (X_1), CCG concentration (X_2), an interaction between LMP concentration and pump speed (X_1X_3), and interaction between CCG concentration and pump speed (X_2X_3) were significant.

A contour plot (Figure 13a) indicated that the effect of LMP concentration was observed at high pump speed. At lower LMP amounts, RVT spray-dried emulsion had an angle of repose of <25°, indicating excellent flow based on the criteria set by USP. The flowability of RVT spray-dried emulsion reduced with an increase in LMP concentration. At higher LMP concentrations, RVT spray-dried emulsion exhibited an angle of repose of >35°, indicating fair flow properties. The high LMP amount in the formulation could retard the flow properties of RVT spraydried emulsion. SEM images of RVT spray-dried emulsion produced using the same CCG amount at high pump speed containing LMP amount of 2% w/w (Figure 14a) and 3% w/w (Figure 14b) exhibited varied particle morphology. More spherical shapes of RVT spray-dried emulsions were obtained from formulations containing less LMP concentrations. Conversely, shriveled shapes were observed in formulations with high LMP concentrations (Figure 14b). A previous study reported that shriveled spray-dried particles can be obtained from more viscous liquids due to slow film formation around droplets (150). From our screening experiments, emulsions containing 3% w/w of LMP showed relatively higher viscosity than those containing 2% w/w of LMP (Figure A1 in Appendix). Similarly, film formation in RVT spraydried emulsion with higher LMP concentrations can be slower than that in RVT spray-dried emulsion with relatively lower LMP concentrations, and result in the formation of shriveled particles. Particle morphology could influence the flow properties of spray-dried particles. Particles with spherical morphology often exhibit good flow properties than particles with the deviation from the spherical shape. Consequently, RVT spray-dried emulsion containing lower LMP concentration exhibited good flow properties than that containing higher LMP concentration.

The effects of interactions between pump speed and CCG concentration can be observed from the contour plot (Figure 13b). Excellent flow in RVT spraydried emulsion can be observed when with CCG concentration and low pump speed. Conversely, RVT spray-dried emulsion with lower CCG concentration produced at the low pump speeds exhibited fair flow properties. The flow properties of the powders could be influenced by moisture content in the spray-dried emulsions. From our screening of DoE, we observed that CCG concentration influences moisture content in RVT spray-dried emulsion. In the present study, moisture content in RVT spray-dried emulsion with 5% w/w of CCG and 10% w/w of CCG produced using 2.5% w/w of LMP at a pump speed of 4.7 mL/min was 7.98% \pm 0.17% and 6.18% \pm 1.02%, respectively. An increase in CCG concentration can reduce moisture content in RVT spray-dried emulsion. Effective evaporation can be obtained in the feed formulation with relatively low water content. The moisture content of spray-dried powders can be influenced by oil concentrations in emulsions (140). Excellent flow properties were observed in formulations containing higher CCG concentrations, which implied low moisture contents. The flowability of the spray-dried powders

could be enhanced by decreasing the moisture content, leading to a decrease in liquid bridges and capillary forces between the particle surfaces (129).



Figure 13. Contour plot showing effect of (a) LMP amount and pump speed and (b) CCG amount and pump speed on the angle of repose (°) of RVT spray-dried emulsions.



Figure 14. SEM images of the RVT spray-dried emulsions comprising LMP amount of (a) 2 % w/w and (b) 3 % w/w with CCG amount of 7.5 % w/w produced at pump speed of 11.6 mL/min.

3.3.2.4 Efficiency of the spray-drying process

Spraying efficiency is a critical process characteristic from manufacturing and economic perspectives. An increase in spaying efficiency may reduce the time spent in the spraying operation per production batch. The spraying efficiency revealed the performance of spray-drying process. As summarized in Table 11, the spraying efficiency varied from 3.49 to 12.31 g/min. The mathematical model in terms of coded factors describing the relationship between factors and spraying efficiency is presented below.

Spraying efficiency (g/min): $Y_4 = +8.15 - 0.17X_2 + 4.29X_3$ (10)

The mathematical model for predicting spraying efficiency was significant at p < 0.0001, and the lack of fit was non-significant (Table 12). The model predicting

spraying efficiency had a high r^2 of 0.9943, representing the reliability of the model. ANOVA showed that effect of pump speed (*X*₃) was significant.

The contour plot (Figure 15) indicated that the spraying efficiency considerably depended on the pump speed of the spray dryer. An increase in the pump speed resulted in higher amounts of liquid feed to be sprayed with a shorter time. Therefore, production rates of RVT spray-dried emulsion can be enhanced by increasing pump speeds of the spray dryer. From a manufacturing point of view, a reduction in process time could be efficient and cost effective.



Figure 15. Contour plot showing effect of pump speed and CCG amount on the spraying efficiency (g/min) of RVT spray-dried emulsions.

3.3.2.5 Verification of mathematical model from RVT spray-dried

emulsions responses

In order to verify the adequacy of the obtained mathematical models, three additional batches of RVT spray-dried emulsions were produced and their product and process characteristics determined. Table 13 presents the levels of each factor, observed values, and predicted values (PV) of the verification (V) batches. The results obtained from all the verification batches were within 95% of the prediction intervals of the PV (data not shown). Errors in the model prediction were determined using RMSE. All models had low RMSE values in the range of 0.25-2.70, which indicated the suitable predictability of the model. Therefore, the models could be used for prediction purposes.

Table 13. Verification experimental results for model obtained from Box-Behnkendesign of RVT spray-dried emulsions.

	And A	Verification	run (V)			
		V1	V2	V3	V4	
Independent	LMP amount	2.8	2.3	2.6	2.2	
factors	(% w/w)			5		
	CCG amount	8	3	9	6	
	(% W/W)	0.5	00	60	5 1	
	Pump speed	9.5	8.8	0.8	5.4	
	(mL/min)		981/			
Responses	<u>2.141</u>			5/		RMSE
Redispersed	*OV	6.33±0.16	6.58±0.13	6.21±0.36	5.87 ± 0.10	
size (µm)	**PV	5.90	6.17	6.07	5.67	0.32
T _{50%}	OV	3.6±0.9	4.4±1.3	3.5±0.3	4.0±0.6	
(min)	PV	3.4	4.1	3.3	4.6	0.36
Angle of	OV	30.1±2.0	31.6±3.3	22.0±1.0	31.1±2.8	
repose (°)	PV	31.5	27.5	24.9	32.4	2.70
Spraying	OV	10.08	9.24	6.68	4.94	
efficiency	PV	9.79	8.99	6.37	4.83	
(g/min)						0.25

*Observed value; **Predicted value.

3.3.2.6 Optimization of RVT spray-dried emulsions formulation and

process

The optimal operation ranges of RVT spray-dried emulsion formulation and spray-drying process were determined from valid mathematical models. RVT spray-dried emulsion produced within the optimal ranges exhibited product and process qualities with desired characteristics. The criteria for optimization of RVT spray-dried emulsion characteristics and spray-drying process included minimizing droplet sizes of redispersed emulsions (not more than $6 \mu m$), T_{50%} (not more than 5 min), and angles of repose (excellent to good flow) and maximize the spraying efficiency (not less than 8 g/min). In the present study, we aimed to produce RVT spray-dried emulsion with good to excellent flowability. The droplet sizes of redispersed emulsions should be small to enhance intestinal absorption and increase RVT bioavailability. In addition, fast spray-drying process is also preferred for its cost-effectiveness. The design space was established according to the criteria meeting all the desired requirements (Figure 16). The optimized formulation can be produced using a high pump speed of 10.1 mL/min. LMP and CCG concentrations could be used in the range presented in the yellow area of the design space. An optimized formulation was produced using 2.75% w/w of LMP and 7% w/w of CCG. Optimized RVT spray-dried emulsion results are shown in Table 14. The optimized formulation exhibited a small redispersed emulsion droplet size $(5.49 \pm 0.23 \,\mu\text{m})$ and rapid drug dissolution (Figure 17), which $T_{50\%}$ was 3.7 \pm 0.2 min. The angle of repose of the formulation was $31.0^{\circ} \pm 2.5^{\circ}$, showing good flow properties of the optimized RVT spray-dried emulsion. The spraying efficiency of the optimized RVT spray-dried emulsion was high (10.63 g/min), indicating that a relatively high amount of the emulsions was sprayed within a relatively short process time. The percentage error from predicted value each response of the optimized formulation was less than 10%, confirming the predictability of the models.



Figure 16. Overall design space for satisfy criteria of all responses of RVT spraydried emulsions. The design space was represented in the yellow area.

Table 14. Experimental results of the optimized RVT spray-dried emulsions.

Responses	Observed value	Predicted value	Residual	Error (%)
Redispersed	5.49 ± 0.23	5.75	0.26	4.60
emulsion size (µm)		SAU/		
T _{50%} (min)	3.7 ± 0.2	4.09	0.64	9.54
Angle of repose (°)	31.0 ± 2.5	33.18	2.2	6.63
Spraying efficiency	10.63	10.60	-0.03	0.28
(g/min)	1813	ยกก		



Figure 17. Dissolution profiles of optimized RVT spray-dried emulsions and intact.

3.3.2.7 Chemical stability of RVT in the optimized RVT spray-dried

emulsions

Photostability and short-term stability of the optimized RVT spray-dried emulsion were assessed to evaluate the effectiveness of spray-dried emulsion formulation in protecting RVT from environmental exposure. RVT is more photolabile in oil solution than in solid form; this is because RVT molecules are exposed to light in transparent oil. While RVT was dissolved in CCG in the spraydried emulsions, RVT was evaluated in oil solution to compare it with RVT in RVT spray-dried emulsion. In the present study, the percentage of intact RVT that retained trans-RVT configuration of $37.27\% \pm 5.33\%$ and $10.5\% \pm 0.22\%$ after UV irradiation for 30 and 60 min, respectively (Figure 18). Conversely, trans-RVT in the optimized RVT spray-dried emulsion exhibited higher photostability than intact RVT. After UV irradiation for 30 and 60 min, residual trans-RVT in RVT spray-dried emulsion was $92.56\% \pm 0.45\%$ and $86.25\% \pm 4.04\%$, respectively. In a recent study, for RVT encapsulated in Eudragit® microcapsules, only 60% of RVT remained after 60 s of UV irradiation (151). Therefore, RVT was effectively protected from UV irradiation by encapsulation using LMP in spray-dried emulsion in the present study. In addition, residual RVT concentrations in RVT spray-dried emulsion after storage at 25°C and 40°C/75%RH for 3 months were 95.24% \pm 1.01% and 96.60% \pm 0.73% of the freshly prepared sample, respectively. RVT in RVT spray-dried emulsion was stable following storage under both conditions.



Figure 18. Remaining trans-RVT after UV exposure of intact and optimized RVT spray-dried emulsions.

3.4 Conclusion

The systematic product and process development of the RVT spray-dried emulsion were facilitated by the QbD approach. RVT is a model example of a poorly water-soluble drug. Prior to the experimental design, the possible risks were evaluated in a formal risk assessment, including the Ishikawa diagram and a risk-ranking system. The critical factors were further revealed in a Plackett–Burman design experiment. After the experiment, the risks were re-evaluated based on our new understanding of the process. The LMP amount, CCG amount, homogenization speed, and pump speed were observed to most critically affect the quality of the product and the spray-drying performance. To mitigate their risk level, the high-risk factors must be related to the product quality and the spray-drying process. Although this relation required further investigation, the application of both risk assessment and the Plackett–Burman design in the early stage of product development can effectively identify the most critical factors that influence the product quality and the process quality attributes.

In the optimization study, the influence of formulation compositions and process factors such as pump speed on RVT spray-dried emulsion properties and spray-drying performance were investigated using the Box-Behnken design. Regression models were established to predict RVT spray-dried emulsion properties and process efficiency. The effects of factors on responses were analyzed using statistical approaches. Redispersed emulsion sizes decreased with an increase in the LMP concentration and with a decrease in the CCG concentration. Time required for 50% drug dissolution was depended on CCG concentration. High CCG concentration may cause oil deposition at the surface of RVT spray-dried emulsion and resulted in faster drug dissolution. The flowability of RVT spray-dried emulsion depended on formulation composition and its interactions with pump speed. Particles with a spherical shape and low moisture content demonstrated good flow properties. Pump speed had a significant effect on the spraying efficiency. The formulations and spraydrying processes were optimized to produce RVT spray-dried emulsion with small redispersed emulsion sizes, fast dissolution, good flow properties, and a spray-drying process with desirable efficiency based on the developed mathematical models. Validation experiments showed good predictability of the mathematical models. The design space was established to specify optimum ranges of formulations and processes. RVT spray-dried emulsion produced within the design space achieved the desired requirements. Optimization elucidated effects of formulation composition and pump speed of spray dryer on RVT spray-dried emulsion properties and process efficiency. In addition, the chemical stability of RVT improved by encapsulation using LMP in RVT spray-dried emulsion.

CHAPTER 4

Development of RVT-loaded onto porous powders

4.1 Introduction

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Materials

4.2.2 Optimization RVT loaded onto porous calcium silicate (PCS) powders

formulation using Box-Behnken design

4.2.3 Preparation of RVT/PCS powders

4.2.4 Evaluation of drug loading capacity and encapsulation efficiency of

RVT/PCS powders

4.2.5 Determination of RVT/PCS powders morphology

4.2.6 Porosimetry of RVT/PCS powders measurement

4.2.7 Viscosity measurement

4.2.8 In vitro dissolution study of RVT/PCS powders

4.2.9 Bulk density RVT/PCS powders determination

4.2.10 Stability studies of RVT/PCS powders

4.2.10.1 Photostability of RVT in PCS powders

4.2.10.2 Chemical stability of RVT in PCS powders on storage

4.3 Results and discussion

4.3.1 Drug loading capacity of RVT/PCS powders

4.3.2 Encapsulation efficiency of RVT/PCS powders

4.3.3 In vitro dissolution study of RVT/PCS powders

4.3.4 Optimization of RVT/PCS powders formulation and verification of mathematical model

4.3.5 Chemical stability of RVT in the optimized RVT/PCS powders

4.4 Conclusion

4.1 Introduction

According to our results from RVT spray-dried emulsions part (Chapter 3), the dissolution properties and chemical stability of RVT were effectively improved using spray-dried emulsions formulation. However, the RVT loading in the formulation was quite low and some degradation form UV irradiation was still observed. Therefore, some improvement is required to enhance the drug loading capacity and photostability of RVT.

PCS is one option for enabling improvements the drug loading capacity and photostability of RVT. The high number of pores in PCS provides a large surface area and pore volume, leading to a high adsorption capacity. Nevertheless, PCS has certain disadvantages for drug delivery systems. The intrinsically low density of PCS retards pharmaceutical development from the viewpoint of the manufacturing process (152). Density differences between the components during formulation may cause non-homogeneous mixing and segregation during processing. A previous study used a wet granulation technique to increase the bulk density of PCS powders during formulation (153); however, adsorption of the drug onto PCS requires many processing steps. Therefore, the implementation of faster techniques is required to increase the bulk density of PCS.

To obtain RVT/PCS powders with the desired quality, e.g. having a high drug loading capacity, encapsulation efficiency or drug dissolution, the relationship between formulation factors and product quality must be clearly understood using DoE. Previous studies have applied the DoE approach to experiments on porous materials (154,155).

In the present work, we developed RVT-loaded PCS powder formulations using an emulsion system and solvent evaporation. PCS powders were used to improve the dissolution properties of RVT. The effects of formulation factors on the characteristics of RVT-loaded PCS powders, including drug loading capacity, encapsulation efficiency and drug dissolution, were determined using the Box– Behnken design. The RVT-loaded PCS powder formulations were optimized to be produced with specific properties within a developed design space. Based on the optimization study, the optimal range for each formulation factor was revealed.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Materials

PCS (Florite[®] RE) was a gift from Eisai R&D Management Co., Ltd. (Kobe, Japan). Ethyl acetate (EA) was purchased from RCI labscan Ltd. (Bangkok, Thailand). All other materials were described in section 3.2.1.

4.2.2 Optimization RVT loaded onto porous calcium silicate (PCS) powders formulation using Box-Behnken design

In the present study, a Box-Behnken design was used to optimize RVT/PCS powders formulation and investigated the effect of selected independent factors on the responses. The method was the same as described in section 3.2.4. The independent factors with the design levels and responses were shown in Table 15. The levels of each independent factor were selected from preliminary experimental results.

Table 15. Independent factors in Box–Behnken design and responses of RVT-loaded porous calcium silicate (PCS) powders.

Independent factors	Level							
	Low (-1)	Medium (0)	High (+1)					
X_1 : LMP amount (% w/w)	2	2.5	3					
X_2 : EA amount (% w/w)	10	15	20					
<i>X</i> ₃ : ratio of RVT to PCS (RVT:PCS)	0.1:1	0.15:1	0.2:1					
Responses	Responses							
<i>Y₁</i> : Drug loading capacity (%)								
Y ₂ : Encapsulation efficiency (%)								
Y_3 : Time required for 50% drug dissolut	Y_3 : Time required for 50% drug dissolution (T _{50%} : min)							

4.2.3 Preparation of RVT/PCS powders

O/W emulsions containing RVT were prepared by a homogenization process. The LMP amounts (2–3% w/w) and EA amounts (5–10% w/w) were varied in the RVT emulsions. The dispersed phase was EA, containing RVT at a concentration of 17 mg/mL. LMP dissolved in distilled water was used as the aqueous phase. Homogenization was performed using the same method as described in optimization part of section 3.2.5. The RVT emulsion was adsorbed onto PCS powders by varying the ratio of RVT to PCS (RVT:PCS; 0.1:1–0.2:1) using a mortar and pestle. The RVT emulsion-loaded PCS powders were dried overnight at 40°C in a vacuum oven

(model Vacucell 55, MMM Medcenter Einrichtungen GmbH, Munich, Germany) to yield RVT/PCS powders. The EA containing RVT was also loaded onto PCS powders, as a control formulation, under the same conditions.

4.2.4 Evaluation of drug loading capacity and encapsulation efficiency of RVT/PCS powders

The RVT content was measured and the drug loading capacity was calculated using the same method as described in section 3.2.6.2. The encapsulation efficiency of the RVT/PCS powders were calculated as follows (156):

Encapsulation efficiency (%) = $\frac{\text{Total RVT amount (mg)} \times 100}{\text{Initial amount of RVT (mg)}}$ (11)

4.2.5 Determination of RVT/PCS powders morphology

The morphology of RVT/PCS powders were determined using the same method as described in section 3.2.6.1.

4.2.6 Porosimetry of RVT/PCS powders measurement

Surface area, pore volume and pore size of intact PCS and RVT/PCS powders were evaluated using a surface area and pore size analyser (model Nova 2000e, Quantachrome, USA). Samples were degassed for 2 hours at 100°C using a vacuum to remove residual water. Adsorption and desorption isotherms were collected at 77 K. Surface area, pore volume and pore size were calculated using the Berret–Joyner–Halenda (BJH) method.

4.2.7 Viscosity measurement

Selected samples were evaluated for viscosity by a dynamic shear rheometer (model Kinexus, Malvern Panalytical Ltd., Malvern, UK) endowed with a cone–plate geometry with a diameter of 50 mm. The shear rate profile was 0.1 to 100 S⁻¹. Measurement of each sample was performed in triplicate at 25° C.

4.2.8 In vitro dissolution study of RVT/PCS powders

In vitro dissolution study of RVT/PCS powders and intact RVT was carried out using the same method as described in optimization part of section 3.2.4.6. The dissolution medium was pH 4.5 acetate buffer. 4 mL of sample was withdrawn at 5, 10, 15, 30, 60, and 120 min intervals and replaced with fresh medium. The sample was centrifuged at a speed of 15,000 rpm for 30 min, and the supernatant was analysed using T60 UV-Visible spectrophotometer (PG instrument Ltd., Leicestershire, UK) at 307 nm. The time required for 50% drug dissolution ($T_{50\%}$) was determined. The RVT content was measured by the UV method prior to the dissolution test. The drug dissolution was carried out in triplicate.

4.2.9 Bulk density RVT/PCS powders determination

The bulk density of intact PCS, optimized RVT/PCS powders and PCS containing the same amount of RVT as the optimized formulation were measured using a graduated cylinder. A 2-g sample was poured into a 50-mL graduated cylinder and the volume observed was used in the calculation of bulk density, as follows:

Bulk density $(g/cm^3) = \frac{\text{Sample weight } (g)}{\text{Sample volume } (cm^3)}$ (12)

4.2.10 Stability studies of RVT/PCS powders 4.2.10.1 Photostability of RVT in PCS powders Photostability study of RVT in RVT/PCS powder

Photostability study of RVT in RVT/PCS powders was carried out using the same method as described in section 3.2.8.1.

4.2.10.2 Chemical stability of RVT in PCS powders on storage

RVT/PCS powders sample was stored in an open vial protected from light at 25°C. The RVT content was evaluated by HPLC after 1-year storage.

4.3 Results and discussion

Seventeen RVT/PCS powder formulations were prepared using the Box– Behnken design. The formulation factors were LMP amount (X_1) , EA amount (X_2) and RVT:PCS (X_3) . The responses of the RVT/PCS powders were drug loading capacity (Y_1) , encapsulation efficiency (Y_2) and Time required for 50% drug dissolution $(T_{50\%}; Y_3)$. The formulations of the RVT/PCS powders and the response results are shown in Table 16.

Table 16. Box–Behnken experimental design layout and response results forRVT/PCS powders.

Standard	Run	Independent factors		Responses			
order (S)	order	LMP amount (% w/w)	EA amount (% w/w)	RVT:PCS	Drug loading capacity (%)	Encapsulation efficiency (%)	T _{50%} (min)
1	6	2	10	0.15:1	0.51 ± 0.07	60.34 ± 0.41	4.9 ± 0.7
2	5	3	10	0.15:1	0.50 ± 0.05	66.49 ± 6.31	4.8 ± 0.4
3	12	2	20	0.15:1	1.39 ± 0.01	89.65 ± 0.95	6.4 ± 1.6
4	8	3	20	0.15:1	1.38 ± 0.15	98.80 ± 0.81	6.5 ± 1.3
5	3	2	15	0.1:1	1.55 ± 0.07	90.99 ± 0.31	6.4 ± 1.5
6	9	3	15	0.1:1	1.43 ± 0.03	88.64 ± 1.89	4.3 ± 0.2
7	11	2	15	0.2:1	0.78 ± 0.05	91.22 ± 5.36	24 ± 7.3
8	14	3	15	0.2:1	0.72 ± 0.05	84.71 ± 4.30	9.5 ± 2.3
9	7	2.5	10	0.1:1	0.86 ± 0.01	75.82 ± 0.63	4.6 ± 0.3
10	13	2.5	20	0.1:1	2.16 ± 0.04	97.61 ± 1.73	3.9 ± 0.4
11	2	2.5	-10	0.2:1	0.32 ± 0.05	62.20 ± 1.58	11.9 ± 3.1
12	16	2.5	20	0.2:1	1.03 ± 0.07	88.76 ± 1.93	13.5 ± 2.5
13	15	2.5	15	0.15	0.83 ± 0.01	72.82 ± 0.96	4.6 ± 0.6
14	1	2.5	15	0.15	0.89 ± 0.06	81.50 ± 2.43	5.9 ± 1.4
15	4	2.5	15	0.15	0.99 ± 0.07	86.72 ± 5.73	4.5 ± 0.2
16	17	2.5	15	0.15	0.98 ± 0.08	81.89 ± 3.12	13.5 ± 2.5
17	10	2.5	15	0.15	0.87 ± 0.09	71.54 ± 2.20	5.9 ± 1.2

4.3.1 Drug loading capacity of RVT/PCS powders

A high amount of drug loaded into a powder is a desirable formulation property. The effect of each independent factor on the drug loading capacity of the RVT/PCS powders was investigated using statistical analysis. The drug loading capacity of RVT/PCS powders varied from $0.32\% \pm 0.05\%$ to $2.16\% \pm 0.04\%$, as summarised in Table 16. The significance and the effect of each independent factor were determined

using ANOVA. A mathematical model used to describe the relationship between the various factors and drug loading capacity of the RVT/PCS powders is shown below.

Drug loading capacity (%): $Y_1 = +0.93 + 0.47X_2 + 0.39X_3 + 0.15X_2X_3 + 0.18X_3^2$ (13)

From the ANOVA results (Table 17), the mathematical model for predicting drug loading capacity of RVT/PCS powders was significant (p-value < 0.0001) and lack of fit was not significant. The model predicting drug loading capacity showed a high r^2 value of 0.9863, which demonstrates the reliability of the model. ANOVA showed that effect of EA amount (X_2) , RVT:PCS (X_3) , the interaction between EA amount and RVT:PCS (X_2X_3), and quadratic term of RVT:PCS (X_3^2) were significant. All of the significant factors showed positive association with drug loading capacity of the RVT/PCS powders. The drug loading capacity increased with increasing EA amount and also the ratio of RVT:PCS. The effect of each significant factor was illustrated using a contour plot. From the contour plot (Figure 19), an increase in EA amount and a ratio of RVT:PCS evidently enhanced the drug loading capacity of the RVT/PCS powders. The content of RVT depended on the amount of the dispersed phase (EA containing RVT) in the emulsion. An increase in the dispersed phase amount in the formulation led to an increase in the RVT amount adsorbed on the RVT/PCS powders. The formulation containing a high amount of RVT had a high amount of emulsion in the formulation, which subsequently led to a higher amount of RVT in the RVT/PCS powders. A previous study reported that varying the volume of the solvent in the dried adsorbed powder formulation induces differences in drug adsorption onto porous powders (89). In a similar manner, the drug loading capacity of RVT/PCS powders was dependent on the EA amount and RVT:PCS in the formulation.

Figure 20 shows the surface morphology of intact PCS and RVT/PCS powders (batch S10). Intact PCS exhibited petal-like flakes on its surface, with a large number of pores. In comparison, the surface of the RVT/PCS powder, which contained the highest amount of RVT among all the RVT/PCS powders, showed the some formation of LMP stacks on the PCS surface (Figure 20-b2). The porosimetry results showed that intact PCS has a surface area of 83.82 m²/g, pore radius of 16.93 Å and

pore volume of 0.46 cc/g, whereas the surface area, pore radius and pore volume of the RVT/PCS powders were 63.29 m²/g, 16.23 Å and 0.34 cc/g, respectively. The decrease in pore volume in the RVT/PCS powder, as compared with the intact PCS, was due to the adsorption of RVT and LMP onto the PCS powder. The decrease in surface area was due to a blocking of pores in the presence of the drug (157). In the case of the RVT/PCS powder, the reduction of both pore volume and surface area could be due to the adsorption of both RVT and LMP on the PCS surface. The pore size of intact PCS and the RVT/PCS powders was similar, indicating that the emulsion did not affect the pore size of PCS.



Source	Sum of Squares	Degree of freedom	Mean square	F value	<i>p</i> -value, Prob>F
For Y_1 (%)					
Model	3.24	4	0.81	215.86	< 0.0001
X_2	1.78	1	1.78	473.37	< 0.0001
X_3	1.24	1	1.24	330.47	< 0.0001
X_2X_3	0.087	1	0.087	23.19	0.0004
X ₃ ^2	0.14	1	0.140	36.39	< 0.0001
Residual	0.045	12	0.004		
Lack of fit	0.025	8	0.003	0.64	0.7239
Pure error	0.02	4	0.005		
*Cor Total	3.29	16			
Other statist	ics: $r^2 = 0.9863$, ac	ljusted $r^2 = 0.9817$,	RMSE = 0.061		
For Y_2 (%)	E0	HIT KER	3		
Model	1756.57	3 GEN 2	585.52	17.07	< 0.0001
X2	1511.68		1511.68	44.07	< 0.0001
X_3	85.61	12UH4	85.61	2.5	0.1382
X_3^2	159.29	AF L	159.29	4.64	0.0505
Residual	445.91	13	34.3		
Lack of fit	277.92	9	30.88	0.74	0.6789
Pure error	167.99		42		
Cor Total	2202.48	16			
Other statist	ics: $r^2 = 0.7975$, ac	ljusted $r^2 = 0.7508$,	RMSE = 5.86		
For Y_3 (min)		CT GREE	2/55		
Model	324.5	4	81.13	8.27	0.0019
X_1	35.28	1	35.28	3.59	0.0823
X_3	199	มาวันดี	199	20.28	0.0007
X_1X_3	39.69		39.69	4.04	0.0673
X_3^2	50.53	1	50.53	5.15	0.0425
Residual	117.78	12	9.81		
Lack of fit	61.17	8	7.65	0.54	0.7874
Pure error	56.61	4	14.15		
Cor Total	442.28	16			
Other statist	ics: $r^2 = 0.7337$, ac	ljusted $r^2 = 0.6449$,	RMSE = 3.13		
Note: $X_1 = L$	MP amount; $X_2=$	EA amount; $X_3 =$	RVT:PCS; $p <$	0.05 is c	onsidered as

Table 17. ANOVA results for model predicting drug loading capacity (Y_1) ,

encapsulation efficiency (Y_2) and $T_{50\%}(Y_3)$.

significant; *corrected total sum of square



Figure 19. Contour plot showing effect of porous calcium silicate (PCS) amount and ethyl acetate (EA) amount on drug loading capacity of resveratrol (RVT)/PCS powders.



Figure 20. SEM images of intact PCS at magnifications of (a1) $1000 \times$ and (a2) $5000 \times$ and RVT/PCS powders standard order (S) 10 at magnifications of (b1) $1000 \times$ and (b2) $5000 \times$.

4.3.2 Encapsulation efficiency of RVT/PCS powders

It was also necessary to study the factors affecting the encapsulation efficiency of RVT/PCS powders. A high encapsulation efficiency could show the effectiveness of the loading method of the RVT/PCS powders. The encapsulation efficiency of the RVT/PCS powders ranged from $60.34\% \pm 0.41\%$ to $98.80\% \pm 0.81\%$ (Table 16). A mathematical model used to describe the relationship between the various factors and the encapsulation efficiency of the RVT/PCS powders is shown below.

Encapsulation efficiency (%): $Y_2 = +78.86 + 13.75X_2 - 3.27X_3 + 6.13X_3^2(14)$

From the ANOVA results (Table 17), the mathematical model for predicting the encapsulation efficiency of the RVT/PCS powders was significant (p < 0.0001) and lack of fit was not significant. The model showed a high r^2 value of 0.7975. ANOVA showed that effect of EA amount (X_2) was the most significant. EA amount showed a positive association with the encapsulation efficiency of the RVT/PCS powders. From the contour plot (Figure 21), the high amount of EA in the emulsion led a relatively high encapsulation efficiency of the RVT/PCS powders, as compared with the formulation containing lower EA amount. EA containing dissolved RVT may have been adsorbed by the surface of the PCS powders. The increase in encapsulation efficiency of the formulation containing a high amount of EA may have been due to the viscosity difference between EA and the water phase in the emulsion. The viscosity of EA was 1.08 ± 0.03 mPa S at a shear rate of 3.13 S⁻¹ at 25°C, whereas that of water was significantly higher, 2.50 ± 0.09 mPa S under the same conditions: such differences have been reported previously (158). In addition, the high amount of EA facilitated the adsorption of EA onto PCS powders owing to the increase in pressure gradient. The pressure gradient replaces capillary action when an adsorbent is completely submerged in an adsorbate (159). An increase in solvent volume may assist the migration of solvent-containing drugs deep inside the pores of an adsorbent (89). Therefore, the high amount of EA in the RVT/PCS powders may have induced the higher encapsulation efficiency, as compared with that containing the lower amount of EA.



Figure 21. Contour plot showing the effect of PCS amount and EA amount on encapsulation efficiency of RVT/PCS powders.

4.3.3 In vitro dissolution study of RVT/PCS powders

The dissolution of the intact RVT was ~20% at 120 min, indicating the intrinsically poor water solubility of RVT as shown previously in the RVT spraydried emulsions part. In contrast, the dissolution properties of RVT was improved in RVT/PCS powders, as shown in Table 16. The time required for 50% drug dissolution varied from 4 to 24 min. This suggests that the RVT/PCS powders significantly improved the dissolution properties of RVT. Ali et al. suggested that the dissolution of crystalline drugs loaded into porous powders is improved owing to a reduction in crystalline size, resulting in an increase in the surface area of the crystalline drug (160). Therefore, in this study, the improved dissolution of RVT when loaded into porous powders may have been due to the reduction of crystalline RVT size. A previous study reported that the volume of an RVT single crystal was 1075.5 Å³ (161). From our results, the pore radius of PCS was 16.23 Å and the volume was 4275.2 $Å^3$. The pore size of PCS was only a few times larger than the size of an RVT single crystal. The formation of crystalline RVT after drying was restricted according to the limitation of the pore size of the PCS, which resulted in the reduction of the RVT crystal (to nano-sized) and an improvement in the dissolution properties of RVT. Other studies have reported that the size reduction of poorly water-soluble drugs could be improved via adsorption onto porous powders (160,162).

A mathematical model used to describe the relationship between the various factors and $T_{50\%}$ of the RVT/PCS powders is shown below.

T_{50%} (min):
$$Y_3 = +6.33 - 2.1X_1 + 4.99X_3 - 3.15X_1X_3 - 3.45X_3^2$$
 (15)

From the ANOVA results reported in Table 17, the mathematical model for predicting the Q_5 of RVT/PCS powders was significant (*p*-value < 0.0019) and lack of fit was not significant. A high r^2 value was also obtained for this model ($r^2 = 0.7337$). ANOVA showed that effect of RVT:PCS (X_3) and its quadratic term were the most significant. RVT:PCS showed a positive association with T_{50%} of RVT/PCS powders. From the contour plot (Figure 22), an increase in RVT:PCS increased the time required for 50% dissolution of RVT when loaded onto the PCS powders. In other words, RVT/PCS powders containing high amount of RVT in the formulation showed slower drug dissolution than that in the formulation containing lower amount of RVT. Previous study reported that meloxicam-loaded onto PCS powders containing 1:3, meloxicam:PCS ratio showed faster drug dissolution than the formulation containing 1:1, meloxicam: PCS ratio (163). The dissolution rate was increased could be due to the increase in PCS amount leading large surface area to reduction in the size of crystalline form of drug. In addition, the high surface area of PCS powders may minimise the probability of drug agglomeration and could improve the wettability of the drug in aqueous fluids. Mellaerts et al. also reported that an increase in drug concentration adsorbed onto mesoporous SBA-15 silica materials beyond the optimum of loading limit could slow the dissolution rate of the drug (164). The high drug loading in the formulation could result in the presence of crystalline and amorphous form of the loaded drug led to slow dissolution rate of the drug. Therefore, an optimum formulation of RVT/PCS powders is necessary for achieving fast drug dissolution and other desire characteristics i.e. loading capacity and encapsulation efficiency.



Figure 22. Contour plot showing the effect of RVT:PCS and LMP amount on $T_{50\%}$ in RVT/PCS powders.

4.3.4 Optimization of RVT/PCS powders formulation and verification of mathematical model

An optimization was carried out to find the optimal range of the RVT/PCS formulations that provided satisfactory RVT/PCS powder quality. The criteria for optimization of RVT/PCS powders characteristics included maximizing drug loading capacity (not less than 0.7%) and encapsulation efficiency (not less than 70%) and minimizing the $T_{50\%}$ (not more than 10 min). The goal and limit of each response were specified based on the desired properties of the product. The drug loading capacity and encapsulation efficiency should be high to ensure a high amount of RVT in the RVT/PCS powders and a low amount of RVT loss during the manufacturing process. In addition, rapid drug dissolution is also preferred to provide rapid absorption of RVT in the gastrointestinal tract. Figure 23 shows an established design space based on the criteria given being met. The optimized formulation could be produced with an LMP amount of 2.2% w/w. The amounts of EA and PCS used may be in the range shown in yellow in the design space (Figure 23); however, the optimized formulation was produced using 14% w/w EA and 0.15:1, RVT:PCS ratio.



Figure 23. Overall design space to satisfy the criteria for all responses of the RVT/PCS powders. The design space is represented by the yellow area.

The results for the optimized RVT/PCS powders (V1) are shown in Table 18. The optimized formulation showed a drug loading capacity of $1.15\% \pm 0.01\%$. The encapsulation efficiency of the optimized formulation was $85.59\% \pm 1.28\%$, indicating the high amount of RVT encapsulated in the porous powders. The T_{50%} of the optimized RVT/PCS powders was 8.0 ± 3.1 min. The dissolution profile of the optimized formulation, as compared with intact RVT, is presented in Figure 24a. The dissolution properties of RVT in the optimized formulation were enhanced compared with intact RVT, as was observed in the Box-Behnken design experimental results. The optimized RVT/PCS powders were further evaluated for bulk density. LMP is a polymeric surfactant and is used to improve the bulk density of PCS powders. The bulk density of the intact PCS powders was 0.061 ± 0.001 g/cm³. The PCS powders containing the same amount of RVT but without LMP showed similar bulk densities to those of intact PCS, i.e. 0.065 ± 0.003 g/cm³, whereas the bulk densities of the optimized RVT/PCS powders showed a 40% increase, i.e. 0.085 ± 0.002 g/cm³. The addition of LMP to the formulation increased the bulk density of PCS in the RVT/PCS powders. This increase facilitates certain manipulations during the manufacturing process, especially in relation to solid formulation.

The adequacy of the mathematical model was confirmed using the optimized RVT/PCS powders formulation and three additional batches of RVT/PCS powders. Characterization for drug loading capacity, encapsulation efficiency and $T_{50\%}$ were performed for these additional batches. The level of each factor, observed value (OV) and predicted value (PV) of the verification (V) batches are shown in Table 18. The RMSE was calculated to indicate the error of the model prediction (165). The model of drug loading capacity and $T_{50\%}$ responses showed low RMSE values, indicating that the models provided good predictability. However, the RMSE of the encapsulation prediction model was slightly higher than that observed for the other models. Nevertheless, the results of encapsulation efficiency obtained from each verification batch were found to be within 95% of the prediction interval of the PV (data not shown). Therefore, the models provided acceptable predictability and were suitable for prediction purposes.

	<u> </u>	Verification ru	n (V)	$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$		
		V1	V2	V3	V4	
Independent factors	LMP amount (% w/w)		2.4	2.6	2.7	
	EA amount (% w/w)	14	16	19	19	
	RVT:PCS	0.15:1	0.1:1	0.2:1	0.2:1	
Responses						RMSE
Drug loading	OV	1.15 ± 0.01	0.72 ± 0.04	1.55 ± 0.02	1.61 ± 0.03	
capacity (%)	PV	0.83	0.78	1.99	1.99	0.39
Encapsulation	OV	85.59 ± 1.28	72.51 ± 5.87	93.76 ± 1.08	83.5 ± 21.97	
efficiency (%)	PV	76.10	84.47	99.26	99.26	11.30
T _{50%} (min)	OV	8.0 ± 3.1	7.2 ± 0.8	7.4 ± 1.2	8.9 ± 1.4	
	PV	7.6	4.6	13.7	12.68	3.92

Table 18. Verification experimental results for the model obtained from a Box–Behnken design of RVT/PCS powders



Figure 24. (a) Dissolution profile and (b) remaining trans-RVT after UV exposure of intact RVT and optimized RVT/PCS powders.

4.3.5 Chemical stability of RVT in the optimized RVT/PCS powders

The photostability of RVT in the optimized RVT/PCS powders and intact RVT is shown in Figure 24b. The *trans*-RVT isomer was transformed via UV irradiation to the cis-RVT isomer (166). Intact RVT in the trans-isomer was degraded rapidly and only 11.48% \pm 0.04% and 7.67% \pm 0.05% of the *trans*-RVT remained after UV irradiation for 30 min and 60 min, respectively. The optimized formulation showed remaining trans-RVT of 99.69% \pm 1.21% and 97.48% \pm 1.63% after UV irradiation for 30 min and 60 min, respectively. RVT could be effectively protected from UV irradiation when loaded onto the porous powders. Previous studies have reported that the stability of RVT is enhanced using techniques such as polymer matrix and acrylate microspheres (151,167,168). However, some chemical degradation of trans-RVT was observed after 60-min UV exposure. In this experiment, the relatively high amount of trans-RVT still remaining after UV irradiation for 60 min indicates the effectiveness of the PCS powders in protecting the UV-sensitive compound. The remained RVT in the optimized formulation of 1-year storage at 25°C was 54.69% \pm 2.05% of the freshly prepared sample. Some RVT in the porous powders could be degraded. The degradation observed from HPLC was not cis-isomer, which was the degraded product of trans-isomer from UV exposure (data not shown). The degradation of RVT could be due to an oxidation of RVT during storage. RVT possesses very strong antioxidant activity, hence it could be oxidized more rapidly ้ารัทยาลัยศิลป์ (169).

4.4 Conclusion

The present study demonstrates that the dissolution properties of RVT were improved by RVT/PCS powder formulation. The effect of three independent factors, LMP amount, EA amount and RVT:PCS, on drug loading capacity, encapsulation efficiency and T_{50%} were studied using the Box–Behnken design. The experimental results showed that EA amount and RVT:PCS had significant effects on the drug loading capacity. The encapsulation efficiency was significantly influenced by EA amount. The RVT:PCS had a significant effect on T_{50%}. The optimized RVT/PCS formulation showed that drug loading capacity, encapsulation efficiency and T_{50%} met all the satisfying criteria. Based on the dissolution profile, 50% of RVT was dissolved within 10-min intervals. In addition, the bulk density of PCS was improved by the addition of LMP to the formulation and RVT/PCS powder formulation could protect RVT from UV irradiation, resulting in the chemical stability of RVT in PCS powders. The development of RVT products using PCS powders could improve their dissolution properties, their stability after UV irradiation of RVT and the bulk density of PCS powders. Furthermore, the experimental design and optimization technique could be applied to the development of pharmaceutical products; thus providing an extensive understanding of the relationship between formulation and product quality.



CHAPTER 5

5.1 Summary and general conclusion

In recent years, an implementation of the HTS increases rate of drug discovery. However, HTS often results in the discovery of new drug candidates with poor water solubility and high lipophilicity. An enhancement of dissolution for poorly watersoluble drug such as RVT could improve drug adsorption and bioavailability. Emulsion is one of the efficient methods to increase dissolution rate and improve bioavailability of poorly water-soluble drug. However, the instability of an emulsion such as flocculation, creaming, cracking, or phase separation was often raised. The dry emulsion is one possible way to overcome such disadvantage of conventional emulsion. In this research, two techniques including spray-dried emulsions and RVTloaded PCS powders were used for the enhancement of dissolution and photostability of RVT.

In the viewpoint of manufacturing process, multiple factors that were associated with the development of the RVT product could affect the its quality attributes. Identifying the product and process factors that considerably influenced the product quality, such as the process efficiency, drug dissolution, and drug loading, and so on was considered to be essential. QbD approach, which utilized both science- and riskbased was implemented in this study to determine effects of formulation and process on each RVT product quality attributes.

The RVT spray-dried emulsions was developed using a quality-by-design approach (Chapter 3). Further, the product and process factors that affected the quality of the spray-dried emulsions were analyzed and illustrated using an Ishikawa diagram. The product and process risks were prioritized using a risk-ranking system. The LMP amount, CCG amount, homogenization time, homogenization speed, inlet temperature, pump speed, drying airspeed, and de-blocking speed were observed to be the eight highest risk factors. Further, the criticality of these eight factors on the responses was determined using the Plackett–Burman design. Increasing the LMP amount increased the particle size, whereas increasing the CCG amount enhanced the drug loading capacity and Q₅ and decreased the moisture content. Q₅ was positively
affected by the homogenization speed and pump speed; however, it was negatively affected by the LMP amount. The spraying efficiency was affected by the pump speed and the LMP amount. Further, the risk level of the homogenization time, inlet temperature, drying airspeed, and de-blocking speed were reduced. However, the LMP amount, CCG amount, homogenization speed, and pump speed were observed to remain at high risk and require further investigation. The risk assessment and Plackett–Burman design mitigated the risks and identified the critical factors that affected the quality of the RVT spray-dried emulsions and the spray-drying process.

In the optimization study of RVT spray-dried emulsions (Chapter 3), effects of formulation and the pump speed of spray dryer on the resultant redispersed emulsion size, T_{50%}, angle of repose, and spraying efficiency were investigated and optimized using the Box-Behnken design. Experimental results showed that the size of the redispersed emulsion was affected by LMP and CCG concentrations. An increase and decrease in LMP and CCG concentrations, respectively, resulted in smaller emulsion droplet size. The T_{50%} was influenced by CCG concentration. High CCG concentration could result in oil deposited at the spray-dried emulsions' surface and might result in fast drug dissolution. The angle of repose in RVT spray-dried emulsion was also influenced by LMP and CCG concentrations. RVT spray-dried emulsion generated using low LMP concertation and high CCG concentration showed a low angle of repose, indicating good flow property. The spraying efficiency enhanced following an increase in the pump speed of spray dryer. A design space was established based on the satisfying criteria for all RVT spray-dried emulsion responses. An optimized formulation containing 2.75% w/w of LMP and 7% w/w of CCG sprayed at a pump speed of 10.1 mL/min prepared within design space satisfied all criteria. The photostability of RVT in RVT spray-dried emulsion was significantly higher than that in intact RVT. Optimization study can elucidate the effects of formulation composition and pump speed on RVT spray-dried emulsion properties and process efficiency.

Another method was RVT-loaded onto PCS powders (Chapter 4), the effects of RVT/PCS powders that included varying amounts of LMP, EA and RVT:PCS on drug loading capacity, encapsulation efficiency and $T_{50\%}$ were investigated using a Box–Behnken design. The experimental results demonstrated that the EA amount and

RVT:PCS significantly influenced drug loading capacity. Encapsulation efficiency was affected by EA amount, whereas the RVT: PCS had a significant effect on T_{50%}. Empirical experiments demonstrated the reliability of mathematical models. A design space was established based on the criteria set for maximizing each response of the RVT/PCS powders. An optimized formulation containing 2.2% w/w LMP, 14% w/w EA and RVT:PCS at 0.15:1 prepared within the design space satisfied all criteria. The dissolution and photostability of RVT in the RVT/PCS powders significantly improved, compared to intact RVT. Further, the bulk density of the PCS powders in RVT/PCS was increased by LMP. The Box–Behnken design used in this study provided an improved understanding of the effects of formulation factors on RVT/PCS powder characteristics as well as the optimization of RVT/PCS powder formulations with the desired properties.

In this research, both RVT products could improve dissolution property of RVT and also its photostability. The QbD approach could elucidate effect of formulation composition and process factors on the RVT spray-dried emulsions properties and process efficiency. In addition, the optimization study of RVT/PCS powders also provide an extensive understanding in effects of formulation factors on RVT/PCS powders responses and also optimization of RVT/PCS powders formulation with the desired properties.

inn

5.2 Future directions of research

This study has developed the RVT spray-dried emulsions and RVT-loaded PCS powders, which can increase dissolution property and photostability of RVT in the formulations. The other lipid carriers, polymer-surfactant or porous powders could be applied for the RVT product to determine the possibility of the model prediction when using different ingredients. Even though this study suggested that the dissolution property of RVT was improved, however, bioavailability improvement of both RVT products should be studied.



APPENDIX

Figure A1. Viscosity value of RVT emulsion standard order (S) 1–12 containing (a) 3% w/w and (b) 2% w/w of LMP.

CQAs	r^2
Particle size	0.7622
Drug loading capacity	0.7980
Moisture content	0.6814
Q5	0.8485
Spraying efficiency	0.9929

Table A1. r^2 of models obtained from the Plackett-Berman design experiment.



REFERENCES



- 1. Lipinski CA. Drug-like properties and the causes of poor solubility and poor permeability. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods. 2000;44(1):235–49.
- Burapapadh K, Takeuchi H, Sriamornsak P. Novel pectin-based nanoparticles prepared from nanoemulsion templates for improving *in vitro* dissolution and *in vivo* absorption of poorly water-soluble drug. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2012;82(2):250–61.
- 3. Weerapol Y, Limmatvapirat S, Jansakul C, Takeuchi H, Sriamornsak P. Enhanced dissolution and oral bioavailability of nifedipine by spontaneous emulsifying powders: Effect of solid carriers and dietary state. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2015;91:25–34.
- Chamsai B, Limmatvapirat S, Sungthongjeen S, Sriamornsak P. Enhancement of solubility and oral bioavailability of manidipine by formation of ternary solid dispersion with d-α-tocopherol polyethylene glycol 1000 succinate and copovidone. Drug Dev Ind Pharm. 2017;43(12):2064–75.
- 5. Adeoye O, Cabral-Marques H. Cyclodextrin nanosystems in oral drug delivery: A mini review. Int J Pharm. 2017;531(2):521–31.
- 6. Möschwitzer JP. Drug nanocrystals in the commercial pharmaceutical development process. Int J Pharm. 2013;453(1):142–56.
- 7. Higashi K, Ueda K, Moribe K. Recent progress of structural study of polymorphic pharmaceutical drugs. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2017;117:71–85.
- 8. Censi R, Di Martino P. Polymorph impact on the bioavailability and stability of poorly soluble drugs. Molecules. 2015;20(10):18759–76.
- 9. Steed JW. The role of co-crystals in pharmaceutical design. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2013;34(3):185–93.
- Jang D-J, Jeong EJ, Lee H-M, Kim B-C, Lim S-J, Kim C-K. Improvement of bioavailability and photostability of amlodipine using redispersible dry emulsion. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2006;28(5):405–11.
- Davis SS, Washington C, West P, Illum L, Liversidge G, Sternson L, et al. Lipid emulsions as drug delivery systems. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1987;507(1):75– 88.
- Washington C. Stability of lipid emulsions for drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 1996;20(2):131–45.
- Gharsallaoui A, Roudaut G, Chambin O, Voilley A, Saurel R. Applications of spray-drying in microencapsulation of food ingredients: An overview. Food Res Int. 2007;40(9):1107–21.

- 14. Atmane M, Muriel J, Joël S, Stéphane D. Flavour encapsulation and controlled release a review. Int J Food Sci Technol. 2006;41(1):1–21.
- Tan A, Rao S, Prestidge CA. Transforming lipid-based oral drug delivery systems into solid dosage forms: An overview of solid carriers, physicochemical properties, and biopharmaceutical performance. Pharm Res. 2013;30(12):2993–3017.
- Masters K. Spray drying handbook. 5th ed. Essex: Longman Scientific & Technical; 1991.
- 17. ICH. Pharmaceutical development Q8(R2). 2009 [cited 2016 Nov 15].
- 18. Yu LX. Pharmaceutical quality by design: Product and process development, understanding, and control. Pharm Res. 2008;25(4):781–91.
- Piriyaprasarth S, Sriamornsak P. Effect of source variation on drug release from HPMC tablets: Linear regression modeling for prediction of drug release. Int J Pharm. 2011;411(1):36–42.
- Adam S, Suzzi D, Radeke C, Khinast JG. An integrated Quality by Design (QbD) approach towards design space definition of a blending unit operation by Discrete Element Method (DEM) simulation. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2011;42(1):106–15.
- Marto J, Gouveia L, Jorge IM, Duarte A, Gonçalves LM, Silva SMC, et al. Starch-based pickering emulsions for topical drug delivery: A QbD approach. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces. 2015;135(Supplement C):183–92.
- 22. Yerlikaya F, Ozgen A, Vural I, Guven O, Karaagaoglu E, Khan MA, et al. Development and evaluation of paclitaxel nanoparticles using a Quality-by-Design approach. J Pharm Sci. 2013;102(10):3748–61.
- 23. Pallagi E, Karimi K, Ambrus R, Szabó-Révész P, Csóka I. New aspects of developing a dry powder inhalation formulation applying the quality-by-design approach. Int J Pharm. 2016;511(1):151–60.
- 24. Amidon GL, Lennernäs H, Shah VP, Crison JR. A theoretical basis for a biopharmaceutic drug classification: The correlation of *in vitro* drug product dissolution and *in vivo* bioavailability. Pharm Res. 1995;12(3):413–20.
- Dahan A, Miller JM, Amidon GL. Prediction of solubility and permeability class membership: Provisional BCS classification of the world's top oral drugs. AAPS J. 2009;11(4):740–6.
- 26. Kawabata Y, Wada K, Nakatani M, Yamada S, Onoue S. Formulation design for poorly water-soluble drugs based on biopharmaceutics classification

system: Basic approaches and practical applications. Int J Pharm. 2011;420(1):1–10.

- 27. Kalepu S, Manthina M, Padavala V. Oral lipid-based drug delivery systems an overview. Acta Pharm Sin B. 2013;3(6):361–72.
- Göke K, Lorenz T, Repanas A, Schneider F, Steiner D, Baumann K, et al. Novel strategies for the formulation and processing of poorly water-soluble drugs. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2018;126:40–56.
- 29. ICH. Impurities: guideline for residual solvents Q3C (R5). 2015 [cited 2015 Oct 15].
- 30. Myers D. Surfaces, interfaces and colloids. New York: Wiley-Vch; 1990.
- Benjasirimongkol P, Sriamornsak P. Stability study of resveratrol-loaded emulsions using pectin as an emulsifier. Asian J Pharm Sci. 2016;11(1):199– 200.
- Ngouémazong DE, Christiaens S, Shpigelman A, Loey A, Hendrickx M. The emulsifying and emulsion-stabilizing properties of pectin: A review. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf. 2015;14(6):705–18.
- Sosnik A, Seremeta KP. Advantages and challenges of the spray-drying technology for the production of pure drug particles and drug-loaded polymeric carriers. Adv Colloid Interface Sci. 2015;223:40–54.
- 34. Tadros TF. Emulsion formation, stability, and rheology. In: Emulsion formation and stability. Wiley-Blackwell; 2013. p. 1–75.
- Norton JE, Gonzalez Espinosa Y, Watson RL, Spyropoulos F, Norton IT. Functional food microstructures for macronutrient release and delivery. Food Funct. 2015;6(3):663–78.
- Hu Y-T, Ting Y, Hu J-Y, Hsieh S-C. Techniques and methods to study functional characteristics of emulsion systems. J Food Drug Anal. 2017;25(1):16–26.
- Niczinger NA, Kállai-Szabó B, Lengyel M, Gordon P, Klebovich I, Antal I. Physicochemical analysis in the evaluation of reconstituted dry emulsion tablets. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2017;134:86–93.
- 38. Pohlen M, Pirker L, Luštrik M, Dreu R. A redispersible dry emulsion system with simvastatin prepared via fluid bed layering as a means of dissolution enhancement of a lipophilic drug. Int J Pharm. 2018;549(1):325–34.
- 39. Shahidi F, Han X. Encapsulation of food ingredients. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.

1993;33(6):501-47.

- Kenyon MM. Modified starch, maltodextrin, and corn syrup solids as wall materials for food encapsulation. In: Rish SJ, Reineccius GA, editors.
 Encapsulation and controlled release of food ingredients. Washington D.C.: American Chemical Society; 1995. p. 42–50.
- Bayram ÖA, Bayram M, Tekin AR. Spray drying of sumac flavour using sodium chloride, sucrose, glucose and starch as carriers. J Food Eng. 2005;69(2):253–60.
- 42. Drusch S, Serfert Y, Heuvel A Van Den, Schwarz K. Physicochemical characterization and oxidative stability of fish oil encapsulated in an amorphous matrix containing trehalose. Food Res Int. 2006;39(7):807–15.
- Tesch S, Gerhards C, Schubert H. Stabilization of emulsions by OSA starches. J Food Eng. 2002;54(2):167–74.
- 44. Pongsamart K, Kleinebudde P, Puttipipatkhachorn S. Preparation of fenofibrate dry emulsion and dry suspension using octenyl succinic anhydride starch as emulsifying agent and solid carrier. Int J Pharm. 2016;498(1):347–54.
- 45. Drusch S. Sugar beet pectin: A novel emulsifying wall component for microencapsulation of lipophilic food ingredients by spray-drying. Food Hydrocolloid. 2007;21(7):1223–8.
- 46. Monsoor MA. Effect of drying methods on the functional properties of soy hull pectin. Carbohydr Polym. 2005;61(3):362–7.
- Randall RC, Phillips GO, Williams PA. The role of the proteinaceous component on the emulsifying properties of gum arabic. Food Hydrocolloid. 1988;2(2):131–40.
- 48. Dror Y, Cohen Y, Yerushalmi-Rozen R. Structure of gum arabic in aqueous solution. J. Polym Sci Part B: Polym Phys. 2006;44(22):3265–71.
- 49. Krishnan S, Bhosale R, Singhal RS. Microencapsulation of cardamom oleoresin: Evaluation of blends of gum arabic, maltodextrin and a modified starch as wall materials. Carbohydr Polym. 2005;61(1):95–102.
- 50. Bucurescu A, Blaga AC, Estevinho BN, Rocha F. Microencapsulation of curcumin by a spray-drying technique using Gum arabic as encapsulating agent and release studies. Food Bioprocess Technol. 2018;11(10):1795–806.
- Castel V, Rubiolo AC, Carrara CR. Brea gum as wall material in the microencapsulation of corn oil by spray drying: Effect of inulin addition. Food Res Int. 2018;103:76–83.

- 52. Bertolini AC, Siani AC, Grosso CRF. Stability of monoterpenes encapsulated in gum arabic by spray-drying. J Agric Food Chem. 2001;49(2):780–5.
- 53. Shu B, Yu W, Zhao Y, Liu X. Study on microencapsulation of lycopene by spray-drying. J Food Eng. 2006;76(4):664–9.
- 54. Wang Y, Liu W, Chen XD, Selomulya C. Micro-encapsulation and stabilization of DHA containing fish oil in protein-based emulsion through mono-disperse droplet spray dryer. J Food Eng. 2016;175:74–84.
- 55. Vega C, Kim EHJ, Chen XD, Roos YH. Solid-state characterization of spraydried ice cream mixes. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces. 2005;45(2):66–75.
- 56. Jiang S, hussain MA, Cheng J, Jiang Z, Geng H, Sun Y, et al. Effect of heat treatment on physicochemical and emulsifying properties of polymerized whey protein concentrate and polymerized whey protein isolate. LWT Food Sci Technol. 2018;98:134–40.
- 57. Marefati A, Rayner M, Timgren A, Dejmek P, Sjöö M. Freezing and freezedrying of Pickering emulsions stabilized by starch granules. Colloids Surf A Physicochem Eng Asp. 2013;436:512–20.
- Chambin O, Bérard V, Rochat-Gonthier MH, Pourcelot Y. Dry adsorbed emulsion: 2. Dissolution behaviour of an intricate formulation. Int J Pharm. 2002;235(1):169–78.
- Kim EHJ, Chen XD, Pearce D. Surface composition of industrial spray-dried milk powders. 2. Effects of spray drying conditions on the surface composition. J Food Eng. 2009;94(2):169–81.
- 60. Birchal VS, Huang L, Mujumdar AS, Passos ML. Spray dryers: Modeling and simulation. Dry Technol. 2006;24(3):359–71.
- 61. Aghbashlo M, Mobli H, Madadlou A, Rafiee S. Influence of wall material and inlet drying air temperature on the microencapsulation of fish oil by spray drying. Food Bioprocess Technol. 2013;6(6):1561–9.
- 62. Hogan SA, McNamee BF, O'Riordan ED, O'Sullivan M. Emulsification and microencapsulation properties of sodium caseinate/carbohydrate blends. Int Dairy J. 2001;11(3):137–44.
- Ballesteros LF, Ramirez MJ, Orrego CE, Teixeira JA, Mussatto SI. Encapsulation of antioxidant phenolic compounds extracted from spent coffee grounds by freeze-drying and spray-drying using different coating materials. Food Chem. 2017;237:623–31.
- 64. Oliveira ÉR, Fernandes RVB, Botrel DA, Carmo EL, Borges S V, Queiroz F.

Study of different wall matrix biopolymers on the properties of spray-dried pequi oil and on the stability of bioactive compounds. Food Bioprocess Technol. 2018;11(3):660–79.

- 65. Tontul I, Topuz A. Spray-drying of fruit and vegetable juices: Effect of drying conditions on the product yield and physical properties. Trends Food Sci Technol. 2017;63:91–102.
- 66. Moreira GÉG, Costa MGM, de Souza ACR, de Brito ES, de Fátima Dantas de Medeiros M, de Azeredo HMC. Physical properties of spray dried acerola pomace extract as affected by temperature and drying aids. LWT Food Sci Technol. 2009;42(2):641–5.
- 67. Goula AM, Adamopoulos KG. Spray drying of tomato pulp in dehumidified air: II. The effect on powder properties. J Food Eng. 2005;66(1):35–42.
- King CJ. Spray drying: Retention of volatile compounds revisited. Dry Technol. 1995;13(5–7):1221–40.
- 69. Maury M, Murphy K, Kumar S, Shi L, Lee G. Effects of process variables on the powder yield of spray-dried trehalose on a laboratory spray-dryer. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2005;59(3):565–73.
- 70. Wang W, Dufour C, Zhou W. Impacts of spray-drying conditions on the physicochemical properties of soy sauce powders using maltodextrin as auxiliary drying carrier. CYTA J Food. 2015;13(4):548–55.
- 71. Toneli J, Park K, Negreiros A, Murr F. Spray-drying process optimization of chicory root inulin. Dry Technol. 2010;28(3):369–79.
- 72. Tonon R V, Brabet C, Hubinger MD. Influence of process conditions on the physicochemical properties of açai (*Euterpe oleraceae* Mart.) powder produced by spray drying. J Food Eng. 2008;88(3):411–8.
- 73. Gallo L, Llabot JM, Allemandi D, Bucalá V, Piña J. Influence of spray-drying operating conditions on *Rhamnus purshiana* (Cáscara sagrada) extract powder physical properties. Powder Technol. 2011;208(1):205–14.
- 74. Wang R, Tian Z, Chen L. A novel process for microencapsulation of fish oil with barley protein. Food Res Int. 2011;44(9):2735–41.
- 75. Carmona PAO, Garcia LC, Ribeiro JA de A, Valadares LF, Marçal A de F, de França LF, et al. Effect of solids content and spray-drying operating conditions on the carotenoids microencapsulation from pressed palm fiber oil extracted with supercritical CO₂. Food Bioprocess Technol. 2018;11(9):1703–8.
- 76. Chambin O, Bellone C, Champion D, Rochat-Gonthier MH, Pourcelot Y. Dry

adsorbed emulsion: 1. characterization of an intricate physicochemical structure. J Pharm Sci. 2000;89(8):991–9.

- Ito Y, Kusawake T, Ishida M, Tawa R, Shibata N, Takada K. Oral solid gentamicin preparation using emulsifier and adsorbent. J Control Release. 2005;105(1):23–31.
- 78. Ito Y, Kusawake T, Prasad YVR, Sugioka N, Shibata N, Takada K. Preparation and evaluation of oral solid heparin using emulsifier and adsorbent for *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies. Int J Pharm. 2006;317(2):114–9.
- 79. Qian KK, Bogner RH. Application of mesoporous silicon dioxide and silicate in oral amorphous drug delivery systems. J Pharm Sci. 2012;101(2):444–63.
- 80. Tingting P, Xuejuan Z, Ying H, Ziyu Z, Qiuying L, Xu J, et al. Nanoporous mannitol carrier prepared by non-organic solvent spray drying technique to enhance the aerosolization performance for dry powder inhalation. Sci Rep. 2017;7(46517).
- Jang HD, Kil DS, Chang H, Cho K, Kim SK, Oh KJ, et al. Preparation of nanoporous SiO₂ particles and their application in drug release control. J Nanosci Nanotechnol. 2011;11(5):4169–73.
- Bae SE, Son JS, Park K, Han DK. Fabrication of covered porous PLGA microspheres using hydrogen peroxide for controlled drug delivery and regenerative medicine. J Control Release. 2009;133(1):37–43.
- 83. Al-Khattawi A, Koner J, Rue P, Kirby D, Perrie Y, Rajabi-Siahboomi A, et al. A pragmatic approach for engineering porous mannitol and mechanistic evaluation of particle performance. Eur J Pharm Biopharm. 2015;94:1–10.
- 84. Sriamornsak P, Sungthongjeen S, Puttipipatkhachorn S. Use of pectin as a carrier for intragastric floating drug delivery: Carbonate salt contained beads. Carbohydr Polym. 2007;67(3):436–45.
- Ebrahimi A, Saffari M, Langrish T. Spray drying and post-processing production of highly-porous lactose particles using sugars as templating agents. Powder Technol. 2015;283:171–7.
- 86. Irene E, Jie Y, Jun Z, Hongwei Z, Liang Z, Chengzhong Y. Low-cost and large-scale synthesis of functional porous materials for phosphate removal with high performance. Nanoscale. 2013;5:6173–80.
- 87. Manuel A. Drug delivery from structured porous inorganic materials. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol. 2012;4(1):16–30.
- 88. Rigby SP, Fairhead M, van der Walle CF. Engineering silica particles as oral

drug delivery vehicles. Curr Pharm Des. 2008;14(18):1821-31.

- 89. Sher P, Ingavle G, Ponrathnam S, Pawar AP. Low density porous carrier: Drug adsorption and release study by response surface methodology using different solvents. Int J Pharm. 2007;331(1):72–83.
- 90. USFDA. Code of Federal Regulations (annual edition). 2000. p. 453.
- 91. Yasuyuki I, Uchida S, Namiki N. Preparation and evaluation of orally disintegrating tablets containing vitamin E as a model fat-soluble drug. Chem Pharm Bull. 2015;63(3):156–63.
- 92. Weerapol Y, Limmatvapirat S, Takeuchi H, Sriamornsak P. Fabrication of spontaneous emulsifying powders for improved dissolution of poorly water-soluble drugs. Powder Technol. 2015;271:100–8.
- 93. Novelle MG, Wahl D, Diéguez C, Bernier M, de Cabo R. Resveratrol supplementation: Where are we now and where should we go? Ageing Res Rev. 2015;21:1–15.
- Hung L-M, Su M-J, Chen J-K. Resveratrol protects myocardial ischemia– reperfusion injury through both NO-dependent and NO-independent mechanisms. Free Radic Biol Med. 2004;36(6):774–81.
- 95. Mikuła-Pietrasik J, Sosińska P, Książek K. Resveratrol inhibits ovarian cancer cell adhesion to peritoneal mesothelium *in vitro* by modulating the production of α5β1 integrins and hyaluronic acid. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;134(3):624–30.
- Sinha K, Chaudhary G, Gupta YK. Protective effect of resveratrol against oxidative stress in middle cerebral artery occlusion model of stroke in rats. Life Sci. 2002;71(6):655–65.
- 97. Rius C, Abu-Taha M, Hermenegildo C, Piqueras L, Cerda-Nicolas J-M, Issekutz AC, et al. *Trans*- but not *cis*-resveratrol impairs angiotensin-IImediated vascular inflammation through inhibition of NF-κB activation and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ upregulation. J Immunol. American Association of Immunologists; 2010;185(6):3718–27.
- 98. Robinson K, Mock C, Liang D. Pre-formulation studies of resveratrol. Drug Dev Ind Pharm. 2015;41(9):1464–9.
- 99. Wan Z-L, Wang J-M, Wang L-Y, Yang X-Q, Yuan Y. Enhanced physical and oxidative stabilities of soy protein-based emulsions by incorporation of a water-soluble stevioside–resveratrol complex. J Agric Food Chem. 2013;61(18):4433–40.
- 100. Ansari KA, Vavia PR, Trotta F, Cavalli R. Cyclodextrin-based nanosponges for

delivery of resveratrol: *In vitro* characterisation, stability, cytotoxicity and permeation study. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2011;12(1):279–86.

- 101. Shi G, Rao L, Yu H, Xiang H, Yang H, Ji R. Stabilization and encapsulation of photosensitive resveratrol within yeast cell. Int J Pharm. 2008;349(1–2):83–93.
- 102. Lee C-W, Yen F-L, Huang H-W, Wu T-H, Ko H-H, Tzeng W-S, et al. Resveratrol nanoparticle system improves dissolution properties and enhances the hepatoprotective effect of resveratrol through antioxidant and antiinflammatory pathways. J Agric Food Chem. 2012;60(18):4662–71.
- 103. Sessa M, Balestrieri ML, Ferrari G, Servillo L, Castaldo D, D'Onofrio N, et al. Bioavailability of encapsulated resveratrol into nanoemulsion-based delivery systems. Food Chem. 2014;147:42–50.
- 104. Matos M, Gutiérrez G, Coca J, Pazos C. Preparation of water-in-oil-in-water (W1/O/W2) double emulsions containing *trans*-resveratrol. Colloids Surf A Physicochem Eng Asp. 2014;442:69–79.
- 105. Sanna V, Roggio AM, Siliani S, Piccinini M, Marceddu S, Mariani A, et al. Development of novel cationic chitosan-and anionic alginate-coated poly(D,Llactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticles for controlled release and light protection of resveratrol. Int J Nanomedicine. 2012;7:5501–16.
- 106. Joye IJ, Davidov-Pardo G, McClements DJ. Encapsulation of resveratrol in biopolymer particles produced using liquid antisolvent precipitation. Part 2: Stability and functionality. Food Hydrocoll. 2015;49:127–34.
- Zhang X-P, Le Y, Wang J-X, Zhao H, Chen J-F. Resveratrol nanodispersion with high stability and dissolution rate. LWT Food Sci Technol. 2013;50(2):622–8.
- 108. Yu LX, Baker J, Berlam SC, Boam A, Brandreth EJ, Buhse L, et al. Advancing Product Quality: a Summary of the Inaugural FDA/PQRI Conference. AAPS J. 2015;17(4):1011–8.
- 109. ICH. Quality risk management Q9. 2005 [cited 2016 Dec 1].
- 110. ISPE. Product quality lifecycle implementation (PQLI) from concept to continual improvement: Part 1- product realization using quality by design (QbD): Concepts and principles. 1st ed. ISPE; 2011. 99-100 p.
- 111. Van Buskirk GA, Asotra S, Balducci C, Basu P, DiDonato G, Dorantes A, et al. Best practices for the development, scale-up, and post-approval change control of IR and MR dosage forms in the current Quality-by-Design paradigm. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2014;15(3):665–93.

- 112. USFDA. Quality by Design for ANDAs: an example for immediate-release dosage. 2012 [cited 2016 Nov 16].
- Weissman SA, Anderson NG. Design of experiments (DoE) and process optimization. A review of recent publications. Org Process Res Dev. 2015;19(11):1605–33.
- Bergum J, Pfahler L, Senderak E, Vukovinsky KE, Sethuraman S, Alan S. Statistical considerations in design space development (Part I of III). Pharm Technol. 2010;3(7):66–70.
- 115. Fahmy R, Kona R, Dandu R, Xie W, Claycamp G, Hoag SW. Quality by Design I: Application of failure mode effect analysis (FMEA) and Plackett--Burman design of experiments in the identification of ``main factors'' in the formulation and process design space for roller-compacted ciprofloxacin hydrochloride immediate release. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2012;13(4):1243–54.
- Verma S, Lan Y, Gokhale R, Burgess DJ. Quality by design approach to understand the process of nanosuspension preparation. Int J Pharm. 2009;377(1):185–98.
- 117. Kumar S, Gokhale R, Burgess DJ. Quality by Design approach to spray drying processing of crystalline nanosuspensions. Int J Pharm. 2014;464(1–2):234–42.
- 118. Gu B, Linehan B, Tseng Y-C. Optimization of the Büchi B-90 spray drying process using central composite design for preparation of solid dispersions. Int J Pharm. 2015;491(1):208–17.
- Davidov-Pardo G, McClements DJ. Resveratrol encapsulation: Designing delivery systems to overcome solubility, stability and bioavailability issues. Trends Food Sci Technol. 2014;38(2):88–103.
- Allan KE, Lenehan CE, Ellis A V. UV light stability of αcyclodextrin/resveratrol host–guest complexes and isomer stability at varying pH. Aust J Chem. 2009;62:921–6.
- 121. Davidov-Pardo G, McClements DJ. Nutraceutical delivery systems: Resveratrol encapsulation in grape seed oil nanoemulsions formed by spontaneous emulsification. Food Chem. 2015;167:205–12.
- 122. McClements DJ, Li Y. Structured emulsion-based delivery systems: Controlling the digestion and release of lipophilic food components. Adv Colloid Interface Sci. 2010;159(2):213–28.
- 123. Plackett RL, Burman JP. The design of optimum multifactorial experiments. Biometrika. 1946;33(4):305–25.

- Deshmukh RK, Naik JB. Optimization of spray-dried diclofenac sodiumloaded microspheres by screening design. Dry Technol. 2016;34(13):1593– 603.
- 125. Verma U, Naik JB, Patil JS, Yadava SK. Screening of process variables to enhance the solubility of famotidine with 2-HydroxyPropyl–β-Cyclodextrin & PVP K-30 by using Plackett–Burman design approach. Mater Sci Eng C. 2017;77:282–92.
- 126. Tarr BD, Yalkowsky SH. Enhanced intestinal absorption of cyclosporine in rats through the reduction of emulsion droplet size. Pharm Res. 1989;6(1):40–3.
- 127. Rao MRP, Aghav SS. Spray-dried redispersible emulsion to improve oral bioavailability of itraconazole. J Surfact Deterg. 2014;17(4):807–17.
- 128. Yin Y-M, Cui F-D, Kim JS, Choi M-K, Choi BC, Chung S-J, et al. Preparation, characterization and *in vitro* intestinal absorption of a dry emulsion formulation containing atorvastatin calcium. Drug Deliv. 2009;16(1):30–6.
- Kim EH-J, Chen XD, Pearce D. Effect of surface composition on the flowability of industrial spray-dried dairy powders. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces. 2005;46(3):182–7.
- Fu X, Huck D, Makein L, Armstrong B, Willen U, Freeman T. Effect of particle shape and size on flow properties of lactose powders. Particuology. 2012;10(2):203–8.
- Aven T. Improving risk characterisations in practical situations by highlighting knowledge aspects, with applications to risk matrices. Reliab Eng Syst Safe. 2017;167:42–8.
- Anderson M., Whitcomb PJ. Two-level factorial design. In: DOE simplified: Practical tools for effective experimentation. 2nd ed. New York: Productivity press; 2007.
- Willmott CJ. Some comments on the evaluation of model performance. Bull Am Meteorol Soc. 1982;63(11):1309–13.
- 134. Sollohub K, Cal K. Spray drying technique: II. Current applications in pharmaceutical technology. J Pharm Sci. 2010;99(2):587–97.
- 135. Jafari SM, Assadpoor E, Bhandari B, He Y. Nano-particle encapsulation of fish oil by spray drying. Food Res Int. 2008;41(2):172–83.
- 136. Carneiro HCF, Tonon R V, Grosso CRF, Hubinger MD. Encapsulation efficiency and oxidative stability of flaxseed oil microencapsulated by spray drying using different combinations of wall materials. J Food Eng.

2013;115(4):443-51.

- de Barros Fernandes RV, Marques GR, Borges SV, Botrel DA. Effect of solids content and oil load on the microencapsulation process of rosemary essential oil. Ind Crops Prod. 2014;58:173–81.
- Kavousi HR, Fathi M, Goli SAH. Stability enhancement of fish oil by its encapsulation using a novel hydrogel of cress seed mucilage/chitosan. Int J Food Prop. 2017;20:1890–900.
- Frascareli EC, Silva VM, Tonon R V, Hubinger MD. Effect of process conditions on the microencapsulation of coffee oil by spray drying. Food Bioprod Process. 2012;90(3):413–24.
- Botrel DA, Borges SV, Fernandes RVDB, Carmo EL Do. Optimization of fish oil spray drying using a protein:inulin system. Dry Technol. 2014;32(3):279–90.
- Montgomery DC. Design and Analysis of Experiments. 8th ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons; 2012.
- 142. USFDA. Guidance for industry: Dissolution testing of immediate release solid oral dosage forms. 1997 [cited 2016 August 12].
- 143. Baek I, Kim J-S, Ha E-S, Choo G-H, Cho W, Hwang S-J, et al. Oral absorption of a valsartan-loaded spray-dried emulsion based on hydroxypropylmethyl cellulose. Int J Biol Macromol. 2014;69:222–8.
- Bilancetti L, Poncelet D, Loisel C, Mazzitelli S, Claudio N. A statistical approach to optimize the spray drying of starch particles: Application to dry powder coating. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2010;11(3):1257–67.
- 145. Chegini GR, Ghobadian B. Effect of spray-drying conditions on physical properties of orange juice powder. Dry Technol. 2005;23(3):657–68.
- 146. Benjasirimongkol P, Piriyaprasarth S, Moribe K, Sriamornsak P. Use of risk assessment and Plackett–Burman design for developing resveratrol spray-dried emulsions: A quality-by-design approach. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2019; in press.
- 147. Burapapadh K, Kumpugdee-Vollrath M, Chantasart D, Sriamornsak P. Fabrication of pectin-based nanoemulsions loaded with itraconazole for pharmaceutical application. Carbohydr Polym. 2010;82(2):384–93.
- 148. Soottitantawat A, Yoshii H, Furuta T, Ohkawara M, Linko P. Microencapsulation by spray drying: Influence of emulsion size on the retention of volatile compounds. J Food Sci. 2003;68(7):2256–62.

- 149. USP. <1174> Powder flow. In: USP35-NF30. 2012. p. 801–2.
- Noshad M, Mohebbi M, Shahidi F, Koocheki A. Effect of layer-by-layer polyelectrolyte method on encapsulation of vanillin. Int J Biol Macromol. 2015;81:803–8.
- 151. Pignatello R, Pecora TMG, Cutuli GG, Catalfo A, Guidi G De, Ruozi B, et al. Antioxidant activity and photostability assessment of *trans*-resveratrol acrylate microspheres. Pharm Dev Technol. 2018; in press.
- 152. Zhou M, Shen L, Lin X, Hong Y, Feng Y. Design and pharmaceutical applications of porous particles. Roy Soc Chem. 2017;7:39490–501.
- 153. Fujimoto Y, Hirai N, Takatani-Nakase T, Takahashi K. Novel tablet formulation of amorphous indomethacin using wet granulation with a highspeed mixer granulator combined with porous calcium silicate. J Drug Deliv Sci Technol. 2016;33:51–7.
- 154. Sharma S, Pawar A. Low density multiparticulate system for pulsatile release of meloxicam. Int J Pharm. 2006;313(1):150–8.
- 155. Ghasemnejad M, Ahmadi E, Mohamadnia Z, Doustgani A, Hashemikia S. Functionalized silica nanoparticles as a carrier for betamethasone sodium phosphate: Drug release study and statistical optimization of drug loading by response surface method. Mater Sci Eng C. 2015;56:223–32.
- 156. Burapapadh K, Takeuchi H, Sriamornsak P. Development of pectin nanoparticles through mechanical homogenization for dissolution enhancement of itraconazole. Asian J Pharm Sci. 2016;11(3):365–75.
- Sher P, Ingavle G, Ponrathnam S, Pawar AP. Low density porous carrier based conceptual drug delivery system. Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 2007;102(1):290–8.
- 158. Pires RM, Costa HF, Ferreira AGM, Fonseca IMA. Viscosity and density of water + ethyl acetate + ethanol mixtures at 298.15 and 318.15 K and atmospheric pressure. J Chem Eng Data. 2007;52(4):1240–5.
- 159. Germann PF, DiPietro L. When is porous-media flow preferential? A hydromechanical perspective. Geoderma. 1996;74(1):1–21.
- 160. Ali MT, Fule R, Sav A, Amin P. Porous starch: A novel carrier for solubility enhancement of carbamazepine. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2013;14(3):919–26.
- Caruso F, Tanski J, Villegas-Estrada A, Rossi M. Structural basis for antioxidant activity of *trans*-resveratrol: Ab Initio calculations and crystal and molecular structure. J Agric Food Chem. 2004;52(24):7279–85.

- 162. Godec A, Maver U, Bele M, Planinšek O, Srčič S, Gaberšček M, et al. Vitrification from solution in restricted space: Formation and stabilization of amorphous nifedipine in a nanoporous silica xerogel carrier. Int J Pharm. 2007;343(1):131–40.
- Sharma S, Sher P, Badve S, Atmaram PP. Adsorption of meloxicam on porous calcium silicate: Characterization and tablet formulation. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2005;6(4):E618–E625.
- 164. Mellaerts R, Aerts CA, Humbeeck J Van, Augustijns P, den Mooter G Van, Martens JA. Enhanced release of itraconazole from ordered mesoporous SBA-15 silica materials. Chem Commun. 2007;(13):1375–7.
- 165. Chai T, Draxler R. Root mean square error (RMSE) or mean absolute error (MAE)? – Arguments against avoiding RMSE in the literature. Geosci Model Dev. 2014;(7):1247–50.
- 166. Silva CG, Monteiro J, Marques RR, Silva AM, Martínez C, Canle M, et al. Photochemical and photocatalytic degradation of *trans*-resveratrol. Photochem Photobiol Sci. 2013;12(4):638–44.
- 167. Liu F, Ma D, Luo X, Zhang Z, He L, Gao Y, et al. Fabrication and characterization of protein-phenolic conjugate nanoparticles for co-delivery of curcumin and resveratrol. Food Hydrocolloids. 2018;79:450–61.
- 168. Koga CC, Andrade JE, Ferruzzi MG, Lee Y. Stability of *trans*-resveratrol encapsulated in a protein matrix produced using spray drying to UV light stress and simulated gastro-intestinal digestion. J Food Sci. 2015;81(2):C292–300.
- 169. Shingai Y, Fujimoto A, Nakamura M, Masuda T. Structure and function of the oxidation products of polyphenols and identification of potent lipoxygenase inhibitors from Fe-catalyzed oxidation of resveratrol. J Agric Food Chem. 2011;59(15):8180–6.

VITA

NAME	Pontip Benjasirimongkol
DATE OF BIRTH	20 November 1980
PLACE OF BIRTH	Bangkok, Thailand
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	Doctor Degrees: Faculty of Pharmacy, Silpakorn University, Thailand and Department of Pharmaceutical Technology, Graduate School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chiba University, Japan Master Degree: Faculty of Life and Social Sciences, Swinburne University of Technology, Australia Bachelor Degree: Faculty of Pharmacy, Silpakorn University, Thailand
HOME ADDRESS	90/142 M.5 The Villa, Tha-it, Rattanatibeth Rd. Pakred, Nonthaburi 11120
PUBLICATION	 Benjasirimongkol P, Piriyaprasarth S, Moribe K, Sriamornsak P. Use of risk assessment and Plackett– Burman design for developing resveratrol spray-dried emulsions: A quality-by-design approach. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2019; in press. Benjasirimongkol P, Ueda K, Higashi K, Sriamornsak P, and Moribe K. An insight into stabilization mechanism of a solid dispersion of indomethacin/partially hydrolyzed polyvinyl alcohol prepared by hot–melt extrusion. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 2018;66(9):859–865. Benjasirimongkol P, Sriamornsak P. Stability study of resveratrol-loaded emulsions using pectin as an emulsifier. Asian J. Pharm. Sci. 2016;11(1):199–200. Benjasirimongkol P, Sriamornsak P, Piriyaprasarth S. Design space development using risk assessment and design of experiments. TIPA J. 2016;4(1):5–17. Benjasirimongkol P, Sriamornsak P, Piriyaprasarth S. Quality-by-Design (QbD): Approach for product and process development. TIPA J. 2015;3(1):40–50.